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Foreword

Ghosts of Halabja. This title refers to a very specific crime - the chemical gassing
of a Kurdish village in northern Iraq in 1988 by the forces of Saddam Hussein. He
was to be tried for this crime before the Iraqi High Tribunal, but that trial against
him will never take place. Saddam was executed in 2006 for the massacre of 148
men and boys from the town of Dujail. The attack on Halabja occurred during the
Anfal campaigns, which were a military operation carried out against the Kurds of
Iraq from 1987 to 1988. Saddam’s execution occurred half-way through his trial
for the Anfals.

I was the chief investigative judge for the Iraqi High Tribunal. As such, it was
my office that indicted Saddam Hussein and his cohorts for the Dujail massacre
and the Anfal campaigns. I spent many hours questioning Saddam and learned to
avoid his manipulative personality in order to learn what he knew and what he
was responsible for in connection with the crimes for which he was charged. I
also spent many hours and days in the field at mass graves and with survivors of
his atrocities. These trials represented a great turning point for justice in Iraq.

For decades, the Iraqi people were terrorized by secretive courts linked directly
to Saddam’s regime. The chance to finally hold Saddam and his government
accountable for what they had done was too great an opportunity to squander
by killing him. Bringing him to justice in the best way possible would help re-
establish the basic concept of justice for Iraqis and show them that everyone, even
the most powerful person, would be held accountable eventually.

It is unfortunate that Saddam Hussein was executed in the manner that was
carried out and it is unfortunate that the Anfal trial against him could not be
completed. This history of the Kurds under Saddam’s regime that Professor Kelly
has written helps to tell the story that could not be adequately told in court. The
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Kurdish people are strong and very resilient. Their culture as a part of Iraqi culture
is very rich and their heritage is one of which they should be proud. Saddam’s
regime could hurt them, and he did so grievously. But he could not bury their
indomitable spirit. The courage and faith of the Iraqis in a better future should
give us all hope—for a better Iraq and a better world.

Ra’id Juhi al Saedi
Former Chief Investigative Judge—Iraqi High Tribunal



Preface

This book is an extension of my previous research for Nowhere to Hide: Defeat of
the Sovereign Immunity Defense for Crimes of Genocide & the Trails of Slobodan
Milosevic and Saddam Hussein (Peter Lang Publishers, 2005). There, I chronicled
the evolution of genocide over time from an accepted stratagem of warfare in
antiquity to an international crime today, the erosion of sovereign immunity as a
defense for leaders who commit genocide, and the prosecutions of Milosevic and
Saddam as heads of state on charges of genocide. Milosevic has since died and
Saddam has now been executed. Death allowed both men to escape completion of
the genocide trials against them.

The unspeakable atrocities visited by Saddam specifically upon the Kurds
of Iraq are explored here together with the trials of Saddam by the Iraqi High
Tribunal—both the completed prosecution for the Dujail massacre against the
Shi’ites and the incomplete one for the Anfal Campaigns against the Kurds.
However, this work is more than a litigation history. It is also an exploration of the
motivations behind and the depths of organized evil in the context of a single brutal
despot at the helm of an artificially created multiethno/religious state lying atop
massive oil wealth but situated in the most dangerous part of the world. Saddam’s
background and the context of his rule explain much about his actions, but not all.
He remained an unpredictable tyrant to the end of his reign.

As this is not a treatise, I have omitted much cross-referencing and sourcing
beyond major quotations, relying instead upon a general bibliography, which
appears at the end of the book. This effort does not offer in-depth analysis of
ancillary legal issues surrounding Saddam’s trial proper, such as the illegality
of the American-led invasion of Iraq under international law, the questionable
legitimacy of the tribunal as established by the Coalition Provisional Authority,
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or treatment of prisoners in conjunction with the Geneva Conventions. Many,
including myself, have written on these matters elsewhere and I invite readers to
access those other projects.

Special acknowledgment must be given to the brave journalists and human
rights activists who have consistently put their lives at risk covering the Kurdish
genocide and the trials of Saddam Hussein. Human Rights Watch expended con-
siderable resources to chronicle the atrocities perpetrated upon the Kurds during
and after the Anfal campaigns, and it is their credible and corroborated reporting
that I rely upon most heavily for my description of that unfortunate chapter in
Kurdish history.

Many thanks go to my family, whose support allowed me to write this book,
and to my research assistants, Kevin Tuininga and Caroline LaForge, for their
meaningful contributions to this project. Thanks also to Vice President Patrick
Borchers, Interim Dean Marianne Culhane, and Creighton University School of
Law for their financial and technical backing of my work.

The National Security Archive at George Washington University has become
a wealth of information for researchers in my field and its staff and leadership
are worthy of commendation for finally compiling declassified documents in area
specialties. I have included a handful of such documents with respect to the Iraq-
U.S. relationship during the Iran-Iraq War in the appendix. I additionally want
to recognize the efforts of Professor Michael Scharf, Director of the War Crimes
Research Office at Case Western Reserve University School of Law, in marshalling
the resources necessary to make primary materials of the Iraqi High Tribunal, like
the English translation of the 900-page Anfal trial judgment, available.

Finally, I appreciate the comments provided by three Iraqi nationals on this
manuscript to help make it as accurate and encompassing as possible: Judge
Raid Juhi Al Saedi, Selwa “Silvy” Nasser Ahmad, and Kamaran Sabir. Their
contributions, drawn from their personal experiences with delivering justice in
Iraq, were particularly helpful. Judge Raid is owed a particular debt of gratitude for
contributing a foreword to this volume that provides such an excellent framework
for the discussion that follows.

This book is dedicated to my sons, whom I hope never experience the kinds
of horrors Saddam visited upon the Kurds, but whom I also hope will come to
appreciate efforts to bring such monsters to justice—imperfect as that justice may
sometimes be.

Michael J. Kelly
Omaha, Nebraska




Introduction: Saddam Hussein and the Prelude
to Genocide

As dawn broke over the Baghdad horizon on December 30, 2006, the morning
call to prayer went up from spiraling minarets dotted across this ancient city. The
hauntingly familiar song echoed back and forth against stone towers and down
through the streets. The low-lying clouds tinted pink against the rising disk of
the desert sun. In a nondescript gray concrete room, in the middle of a circle
of masked men, the song of the muezzins mixed with that of a solitary rope—
swinging slowly to and fro, stretching under the weight of a body clad in black.
The rope was snapped by the hangman, and the lifeless body tumbled to the hard
floor. Saddam Hussein was dead.

Eid ul-Adha had begun. Under Iraqi law, no executions may occur on a
holy day. Eid ul-Adha is celebrated by Muslims in remembrance of the Prophet
Ibrahim’s (Abraham’s) willingness to sacrifice his son Ishmael for God. Saddam
died minutes before the holy day commenced. His executioners carried out the
sentence of death pronounced on him six weeks prior by the Iraqi High Tribunal
for the massacre of 148 Shi’ites in the village of Dujail.

At the time of Saddam’s execution, he was additionally being tried for his
role in the Anfal campaigns, a series of military strikes targeting the Kurdish
population in northern Iraq. The charges included genocide. The prosecution had
only presented half of its case when Saddam was executed. Five more trials had
been scheduled to follow, including a trial focusing on the hideous gassing of
Kurdish civilians by the Iraqi military in the city of Halabja. But because under
Iraqi law, those who receive the death sentence must be put to death within thirty
days of their final appeal, Saddam never finished the second trial, and the case
against him on behalf of the victims of Halabja will never be made. Thus, the
Kurds were denied their day in court against him; cheated of justice.
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Yet, they were not surprised. The story of the Kurds is the story of a people
buffeted by forces greater than they. The twentieth century offers ample example.
For centuries, Kurds and Arabs served under the yoke of their Turkish masters
during the Ottoman Empire. Then, when the Western Allies defeated Turkey, the
moment came to finally be free. As the old imperial lands were being carved up into
new nations, the Kurds were promised a homeland, albeit geographically crimped,
by the 1920 Treaty of Sévres in what is now modern-day Turkey. However, with the
rise of Ataturk and establishment of the modern Turkish state, the Allies reneged
on their guarantee and the Treaty of Sévres was replaced with the 1923 Treaty of
Lausanne, which contained no provision for the Kurds and which folded Kurdish
minority enclaves into Turkey, Iran, Syria, and Iraq.

Decades of mistreatment, repression, and outright hostility by their host gov-
ernments hardened the Kurds, making them largely self-reliant. During the Iran—
Iraq War, the Ayatollah cultivated Iraqi Kurds to fight with the Iranians, only to sell
them out by making a separate peace with Saddam Hussein. Then, after the 1991
Persian Gulf War, President Bush incited them to rise up against Saddam, only
to withdraw American support and leave them to be slaughtered by Iraqi forces.
Thus, when the time finally came to bring Saddam to justice for what he had done
to the Kurds, only to have him executed halfway through the trial and the charges
against him dropped, the Kurdish people a rightly viewed this as yet another
betrayal—this time by an Arab-dominated court within Iraq. No surprise, just
more disappointment—a feeling with which they had become intimately familiar
over the course of their troubled history within Iraq.

Who was Saddam Hussein? How did he come to be tried for war crimes,
genocide, and crimes against humanity and executed before those trials could be
completed? To understand that, one must understand how he came to power and
ruled the sprawling multiethnic/multireligious country known as Iraq.

Iraq, like so many other offspring of the world’s colonial past, is not a natural
country. It is an artificial creation borne of convenience and connivance. France and
Britain carved up the non-Turkish provinces of the collapsed Ottoman Empire after
World War I and decided between themselves which provinces would be united
into countries that they would each influence. France took Syria and Lebanon, and
Britain took Palestine, Jordan, and Mesopotamia. In organizing Mesopotamia,
the British cobbled together the old Ottoman provinces of Mosul (mostly Sunni
Kurds), Baghdad (mostly Sunni Arabs), and Basra (mostly Shi’a Arabs), appointed
a figurehead monarch, and dubbed the new creation “Iraq.”

It was into this artificial and internally antagonistic country that Saddam was
born in April 1937 in a small village outside Tikrit. As a teenager, he immersed
himself in the prevailingly bitter anti-British (and anti-Western) atmosphere of the
day. This profound disillusionment with failed promises from London to make
Iraq a viable state, followed by more failed promises from the weak King Faisal
to make Iraq independent of Western influence, affected Saddam at an early age.
Perhaps this drove his deep cynicism, which would allow him to later use the West
for what he could, to achieve much darker ambitions. At college in Baghdad, he
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joined the opposition Ba’ath Party and eventually, in 1956, took part in an aborted
coup attempt.

After the ousting of the monarchy two years later, the young Saddam im-
prudently seized an opportunity to fast-track the Ba’athist rise to power by par-
ticipating in a plot to kill the prime minister, Abdel-Karim Qassem. However,
the conspiracy was discovered, and Saddam fled the country. He bided his time
in Cairo—then a hotbed of Arab nationalistic activity, where he attended law
school.

Five years later, in 1963, with the Ba’ath Party finally in control, Saddam re-
turned and began jostling for a position of influence. During this period, he married
his cousin Sajida. They later had two sons and three daughters. Turmoil followed
Saddam. Within months of his return, the Ba’ath Party had been overthrown and
Saddam was jailed; he remained in jail until the party returned to power in a July
1968 coup. An assessment of Saddam (see Figure I.1) in 1969 by the British
embassy in Baghdad clearly identifies him as a rising power.

In a telegram issued one month later, after Saddam had risen to Vice-Chairman
of the Revolutionary Command Council, British ambassador H.G. Balfour Paul
described Saddam after meeting him as “a much more ‘serious’ character than
other Ba’athist leaders; . . . . I should judge him, young as he is, to be a formidable,
single-minded and hard-headed member of the Ba’athist hierarchy, but one with
whom . . . it would be possible to do business.”!

An older and more patient Saddam, as predicted by the British, eventually
became the power behind the ailing president, Ahmed Hassan Bakr. In 1979,
Saddam achieved his ambition of becoming head of state, succeeding Bakr. To
consolidate his power, Saddam immediately executed sixty-six men he believed
were working against him.

Once in power, Saddam was confronted with the problem of successfully
governing a multiethnic, multireligious state. As Iraq contained both Shi’a and
Sunni religious sects as well as an ethnic Arab—Kurd divide, political strength was
required to hold the country together. Saddam knew such strength. In his rise to
power, Saddam displayed shades of Stalin—ambition and cruelty coupled with
paranoia. Faced with governing such an artificial state, Saddam overlaid these
Stalinistic impulses with a cynical penchant for managing ethnic politics similar
to Yugoslavia’s longtime dictator Josip Broz Tito.

Like Tito, Saddam justified his brutal, iron-fisted rule as the only means of
governing a state with such profound and ancient ethnic and religious fissures.
Like Yugoslavia without Tito, Iraq without its strongman might fly apart into its
constituent pieces, melting down into civil war in the process. For years, the West
turned a blind eye, encouraging the continued territorial integrity and stability of
nation-states (most of which they helped create) over human rights concerns.

With acquiescence from the West, Saddam was able to inflict grievous harm on
those who opposed his regime in Baghdad. The religious beliefs of his own ruling
clan within the Ba’ath Party were based in Sunni Islam—practiced by a minority
segment of the total Iraqi population. That population, before the recent Iraq War,
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Figure I.1. British Assessment of Saddam in 1969. Source: National Security Archive,
George Washington University.

consisted of 20 percent Sunni Arabs, 17 percent Sunni Kurds, and 60 percent Shi’a
Arabs (see Figure 1.2). This minority status caused Saddam to follow the pattern
of other ethnic minority governments (such as in South Africa, the defunct state
of Rhodesia, Rwanda, and Burundi) in brutalizing his own people to remain in
power.
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Figure 1.2. Ethnic & Religious Makeup of Iraq. Source: CIA, 1992.

Underlying the political and power-based rationales for Saddam’s approach
to governance were economic concerns. As Figure 1.3 indicates rather starkly,
the distribution of oil wealth (Iraq’s primary source of state revenue) is inconve-
niently concentrated in the Kurdish north and Shi’a south. The Sunni Arab lands
in the middle have very little. The British recognized the value of the oil-rich
Kurdish region (the old Mosul province) as the linchpin for Iraq’s economy as
early as 1917, when Sir Arnold Wilson, acting commissioner for Mesopotamia,
noted:

The idea of Iraq as an independent nation had scarcely taken shape, for the country
lacked homogeneity, whether geographical, economic or racial. . . . It was scarcely to
be hoped that the vilayets of Basra and Baghdad could maintain their existence as an
autonomous state without the revenue it was hoped might eventually be derived from
the economic resources of the Mosul vilayet. Yet three quarters of the inhabitants of the
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Figure 1.3. Oil Wealth Distribution—Iraq. Source: CIA, 1992.

Mosul vilayet were non-Arabs, five-eighths being Kurdish, and one-eighth Christain
or [non-Islamic Kurds].?

Consequently, to retain adequate control over the wealth of the nation, Sad-
dam not only repressed the non-Sunni Arab populations in those areas, but
also repopulated many districts with his Arab kinsmen—especially around the
traditionally Kurdish area of Kirkuk. Mosul, mostly Kurdish under the Ot-
tomans, became mostly Arab under Saddam. In the north, the “Arabization”
of oil-producing areas meant eviction of Kurdish farmers, who were replaced
with Arab tribesmen. Because the Iraqi Kurds were politically divided among
themselves, Saddam could play the Kurdish factions off one another in re-
turn for favors from Baghdad. He was able to take advantage of this contin-
ual disunity to control them and eventually eliminate large Kurdish populations
altogether.
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Like many despots before him, Saddam was predisposed to criminality, bru-
tality, and thuggish behavior long before assuming power. Saddam exhibited the
same behaviors once in power. In that sense, Saddam shared a behavioral pattern
with Stalin, and Hitler in particular who had to struggle within a political party ap-
paratus to gain leadership as a prerequisite to controlling the state. And like Stalin
and Hitler, Saddam proved calculating, retributive, and cunning in his intraparty
maneuverings, as he lied, cheated, and murdered his way to the top.

Chaos of the times helps these situations unfold. For Stalin, it was the con-
solidation of Bolshevism in a young Soviet Union pulling itself together from
near collapse after World War I and the continuing threat from within by other
parties. For Hitler, it was the destabilization of Germany by worldwide economic
depression combined with open warfare in the streets between the National So-
cialists and the Communists. For Saddam, it was an Arab world unsure of itself,
embroiled in multiple wars with Israel, enmeshed in the deepening Cold War,
and influenced by a Sunni minority struggling to maintain its grip on government
within Iraq. Such engines produce strong leaders, to be sure, but also paranoid
and cruel ones—paranoia from surviving the struggle to the top and cruelty as the
proven means to get there.

Such characteristics, combined with impunity and lack of accountability,
constitute a classic formula for atrocities on a mass scale that played out in Iraq
just as in other contexts like Stalin’s Russia, Hitler’s Germany, Pol Pot’s Cambodia,
or Ceausescu’s Romania. The list of Saddam’s cruelties is long and the victims of
his brutality many. This is the collective story of one people—the Iraqi Kurds, and
the terrors they endured which culminated in the crime of crimes—genocide.
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Part One

Genocide of the Kurds
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Kurdistan (Introduction and Background on
Region and People)

Known by the ancient Sumerians as the Karda and by the Babylonians as the
Qardu, the land of the Kurds stretches across the northern part of what was known
historically as Mesopotamia. Today, the 74,000 square miles of mountainous
and heavily forested terrain that “Kurdistan” covers encompasses southeastern
Turkey, northwestern Iran, northern Iraq, and northeastern Syria—an area the size
of France (see Figure 1.1). The mighty Tigris and Euphrates rivers originate in
the rugged mountains of Kurdistan; their life-giving waters cascading down to the
lower plateaus of the Fertile Crescent.

From before the time of Xenophon (427-355 B.c.), this land was in the
possession of the Kurds, who consider themselves indigenous to the region. Kurds
are an Aryan people and an ethnic group distinct from the Turks, Persians, and
Arabs, although the majority of Kurds share the Islamic faith of those populations.
The Kurdish language, customs, traditions, and internal tribal structures are also
distinct (see Figure 1.2). Numbering roughly 30 million, the Kurds are the largest
ethnic group in the world without a state. Instead, they have been incorporated as
minority populations within the larger surrounding states.

“Kurds have no friends but the mountains” is an old saying that continues to
ring true. Indeed, virtual independence coupled with statelessness has been the
fate of the Kurds through history. Wedged between the larger powers of Persians,
Assyrians, and Babylonians, the Kurds were constantly pressed into service by
the rulers of various empires up to and including that of the Greeks, which later
gave way to their provincial incorporation into the Roman Empire.

From the demise of Byzantium to the rule by Arabs under the Caliph of
Baghdad, the Kurds enjoyed a degree of autonomy which eventually gave way
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Figure 1.1. Kurdish Inhabited Lands. Source: CIA, 1992.

to virtual independence in the second half of the tenth century as Kurdistan was
shared among the five largest Kurdish principalities: the Shaddadid, Rawadid,
Hasanwayhids, Annazids, and the Marwanid. However, one by one, these prin-
cipalities were annexed by the Seljuk Turks. Their greatest leader, Saladin, ruled
during the Ayyubid period, but they later came under the influence of the Mongols
during the thirteenth century, when Marco Polo made his famous trek across Asia
to visit the court of Kubulai Khan, meeting and writing about Kurdish customs
along his winding journey eastward.

Eventually, as their Mongol overlords receded back into Asia proper, the
Kurds began forming independent principalities once again, only to be subsumed
subsequently by foreign powers. The Ottoman Empire came to control much of
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Figure 1.2. Traditional Kurdish Dress (from left—Mesopotamia, Mardin, and Di-
yarbekir). Source: Pascal Sebah, Les Costumes Populaires De Law Turquie, 1873.

Kurdistan early in the sixteenth century as Sultan Selim I defeated the Persian Shah
Ismail in 1514. As a security measure, the Persians forcibly resettled hundreds of
thousands of Kurds away from their new borders with the expanding Ottomans
and into the interior of Persia. Removal of the Kurds from the Anatolia region was
traumatic and devastating. Ismail’s successor, Shah Tahmasp I, systematically
destroyed Kurdish villages and the countryside as his forces slowly retreated
eastward year by year from the advancing Ottomans.
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In 1609, the Kurds rose up against their Persian masters, ruled by Shah Abbas
I. They rallied around a fortress called Dimdim by Lake Urmia in what is now
northwestern Iran. The Kurdish resistance, led by Amir Khan, capitulated after
a yearlong siege led by the Persian grand vizier Hartem Beg who eventually
captured the fortress and massacred the defenders. Shah Abbas then ordered the
general massacre of Kurds in the surrounding cities and resettled Turkish tribes
into formerly Kurdish areas.

The Kurds lived divided under Persian and Ottoman rules for centuries there-
after. Following the Russo-Turkish War of 1828, Kurdish uprisings over the next
three decades were put down, Kurdish governors were replaced with Turkish
ones, and garrisons were strengthened within Kurdish towns. Separatist activity
continued at a low level up through World War I.

The collapse of the Ottoman Empire upon its defeat by the Allied powers in
World War I offered the Kurds another chance at self-rule. Kurdish representa-
tives lobbied the victorious Allies for an independent state to rise from the ashes
of the rapidly disintegrating empire. Representatives of the crumbling Ottoman
order signed the Treaty of Sevres with the Allies in 1920 which formally dis-
membered the old empire into “mandatory” states under the supervision of Allied
powers, as well as independent states. Kurdistan was assured of independence
at last.

The method of triggering the creation of a Kurdish homeland was nuanced in
the Treaty of Sévres, as the section on Kurdistan reveals:

SECTION III.
KURDISTAN.
ARTICLE 62.

A Commission sitting at Constantinople and composed of three members ap-
pointed by the British, French and Italian Governments respectively shall draft within
six months from the coming into force of the present Treaty a scheme of local au-
tonomy for the predominantly Kurdish areas lying east of the Euphrates, south of the
southern boundary of Armenia as it may be hereafter determined, and north of the
frontier of Turkey with Syria and Mesopotamia, as defined in Article 27, II (2) and
3).

If unanimity cannot be secured on any question, it will be referred by the mem-
bers of the Commission to their respective Governments. The scheme shall contain
full safeguards for the protection of the Assyro-Chaldeans and other racial or reli-
gious minorities within these areas, and with this object a Commission composed
of British, French, Italian, Persian and Kurdish representatives shall visit the spot to
examine and decide what rectifications, if any, should be made in the Turkish frontier
where, under the provisions of the present Treaty, that frontier coincides with that of
Persia.

ARTICLE 63.

The Turkish Government hereby agrees to accept and execute the decisions
of both the Commissions mentioned in Article 62 within three months from their
communication to the said Government.
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ARTICLE 64.

If within one year from the coming into force of the present Treaty the Kurdish
peoples within the areas defined in Article 62 shall address themselves to the Council
of the League of Nations in such a manner as to show that a majority of the population
of these areas desires independence from Turkey, and if the Council then considers
that these peoples are capable of such independence and recommends that it should
be granted to them, Turkey hereby agrees to execute such a recommendation, and to
renounce all rights and title over these areas.

The detailed provisions for such renunciation will form the subject of a separate
agreement between the Principal Allied Powers and Turkey.

If and when such renunciation takes place, no objection will be raised by the
Principal Allied Powers to the voluntary adhesion to such an independent Kurdish
State of the Kurds inhabiting that part of Kurdistan which has hitherto been included
in the Mosul vilayet.!

Although the United States was not a party to the peace settlement with Turkey,
as the United States and the Ottoman Empire had not been at war, President Wilson
was regarded by the other Allied powers as a player not to be ignored during
discussions for a Middle East settlement. Specifically, Wilson was accorded the
task of demarcating the boundaries of a new state for the Armenians, which
was provided for in Articles 88-93 of the treaty. That Wilson took into account
the Kurdish population neighboring a new Armenian state, and the potential for
creation of a new Kurdish state, is revealed in his diplomatic note to the Allies
explaining his rationale for the Armenian frontiers:

The White House
Washington
November 22, 1920

Mr. President: By action of the Supreme Council taken on April 26" of this year
an invitation was tendered to me to arbitrate the question of the boundaries between
Turkey and the new state of Armenia....[T]he scope of the arbitral competence
assigned to me is clearly limited to the determination of the frontiers of Turkey and
Armenia in the Vilayets of Erzerum, Trebisond, Van and Bitlis. With full consciousness
of the responsibility placed upon me by your request, I have approached this difficult
task with eagerness to serve the best interests of the Armenian people as well as
the remaining inhabitants, of whatever race or religious belief they may be, in this
stricken country, attempting to exercise also the strictest possible justice toward the
populations, whether Turkish, Kurdish, Greek or Armenian, living in the adjacent
areas. . ..

The conflicting territorial desires of Armenians, Turks, Kurds and Greeks along
the boundaries assigned to my arbitral decision could not always be harmonized. In
such cases it was my belief that consideration of a healthy economic life for the future
state of Armenia should be decisive. Where, however, the requirements of a correct
geographic boundary permitted, all mountain and valley districts along the border
which were predominantly Kurdish or Turkish have been left to Turkey rather than
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assigned to Armenia, unless trade relations with definite market towns threw them
necessarily into the Armenian state. Wherever information upon tribal relations and
seasonal migrations was obtainable, the attempt was made to respect the integrity of
tribal groupings and nomad pastoral movements.

From the Persian border southwest of the town of Kotur the boundary line of
Armenia is determined by a rugged natural barrier of great height, extending south
of Lake Van and lying southwest of the Armenian cities of Bitlis and Mush. This
boundary line leaves as part of the Turkish state the entire Sanjak of Hakkiari, or
about one-half of the Vilayet of Van, and almost the entire Sanjak of Sairt. The sound
physiographic reason which seemed to justify this decision was further strengthened
by the ethnographic consideration that Hakkiari and Sairt are predominantly Kurdish
in population and economic relations. It did not seem in the best interest of the
Armenian state to include in it the upper valley of the Great Zab River, largely Kurdish
and Nestorian Christian in population and an essential element of the great Tigris
river irrigation system of Turkish Kurdistan and Mesopotamia. The control of these
headwaters should be kept, wherever possible, within the domain of the two interested
states, Turkey and Mesopotamia. For these reasons the Armenian claim upon the upper
valley of the Great Zab could not be satisfied.

The boundary upon the west from Bitlis and Mush northward to the vicinity of
Erzingan lies well within Bitlis and Erzerum vilayets. It follows a natural geographic
barrier, which furnishes Armenia with perfect security and leaves to the Turkish state
an area which is strongly Kurdish. . ..

I have the honor to submit herewith the text of my decision.

Woodrow Wilson?

The Treaty of Sevres, however, was rejected by the Turkish nationalist move-
ment which was waging a military campaign against the occupying Allied forces
under the direction of Mustafa Kemal Pasha, later to be known as Atatiirk—the
founder of a new secular Turkey. Atatiirk was a battle-hardened veteran of the
Galipoli campaign that repulsed repeated Allied attempts at landing on the nar-
row peninsula which had earned him grudging British respect. Before Kurdistan
could be founded, Atatiirk had parlayed vital support from the Soviet Union into a
successful consolidation of the countryside and political assault on the weakening
sultan that led to the military expulsion of Allied troops, abolition of the monarchy,
and establishment of the Republic of Turkey. As historian Margaret MacMillan
notes:

The great line of sultans that had produced Suleiman the Magnificent had dwindled
to Mehmed VI. His main achievement was to have survived the rule of three brothers:
one who was deposed when he went mad; his paranoid and cruel successor, so fearful
of enemies that he employed a eunuch to take the first puff of every cigarette; and
the timid old man who ruled until 1918. Mehmed VI was sane but it was difficult to
gauge whether there were any ideas in his bony head. He took over as sultan with deep
misgivings. “I am at a loss,” he told a religious leader. “Pray for me.”

The power of the throne, which had once made the world tremble, had slipped
away. Orders from the government, reported the American representative, “often
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receive but scant consideration in the provinces and public safety is very poor through-
out Asia Minor.” Although Constantinople was not officially occupied at first, Allied
soldiers and diplomats “were everywhere—advising and ordering and suggesting.”
Allied warships packed the harbor so tightly that they looked like a solid mass. “I am
ill,” murmured the sultan, “I can’t look out the window. I hate to see them.” Atatiirk
had a very different thought: “As they have come, so they shall go.”

In 1923, the Turks of the fledgling republic under Atatiirk signed a new treaty
with the Allied powers, who were not prepared to redeploy into Anatolia to fight
another war—especially since Atatiirk was by then cutting deals with Lenin in
Soviet Russia. By that time, a smaller version of Armenia had been converted into
a Soviet Republic. The Treaty of Lausanne, recognizing the new political situation
in the region, revoked the promise of an independent Kurdistan and Armenia in
exchange for Turkey ceding claims to Cyprus, Iraq, and Syria and agreeing to
honor 40 percent of Ottoman debts.

Consequently, the Kurds were victims of global as opposed to regional poli-
tics. Abandonment of promises made by Western powers in the Treaty of Sevres
was, from the perspective of the Kurds, a painful double-cross. It would not be
the last time they were abandoned by the West. The old Ottoman province of
Mosul, rich with oil fields, was attached to the new state of Iraq along with the
provinces of Basra and Baghdad. The Kurds who lived under Ottoman rule for
so long were thereby partitioned between Turkish and Arab rulers. Kurds in Iran
remained under the rule of the Persians.

The post—World War I settlement remains the geographic fate of greater Kur-
distan. Each of the areas of Kurdistan has suffered different degrees of repression
from their foreign masters, perhaps mostly at the hands of the Turks and Arabs.
Iraqi Kurdistan has over time come to enjoy the greatest level of autonomy among
the larger Kurdish populations, but the journey to that level of autonomy has been
a long and difficult one. The struggle within Iraq began shortly after the war in
1918 and the struggle continues to the present day.

On December 1, 1918, during a meeting in Sulaimaniya with the British
commissioner for Mesopotamia, Kurdish leaders demanded support for a united
and independent Kurdistan under British protection. Frustrated, Shaikh Mahmoud
Barzani, a Kurdish leader based in Sulaimaniya, formed a Kurdish government
and led two revolts against British rule. It took authorities two years to put down
his uprisings. The first revolt began on May 22, 1919, with the arrest of British
officials in Sulaimaniya and it quickly spread to Mosul and Arbil. Afterward, the
British exiled Mahmoud to India.

In July 1920, tribal leaders called again for independence of Kurdistan within
the British mandate. British objection to Kurdish self-rule was driven by fear
that granting it would encourage the Arab areas of Baghdad and Basra to follow
suit, thereby threatening British control over all Mesopotamia. In 1922, Britain
restored Shaikh Mahmoud to power, hoping that he would organize the Kurds to
act as a buffer against the Turks, who had resurrected territorial claims over Mosul.
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Mahmoud instead declared a Kurdish kingdom with himself as the king, though he
later agreed to limited autonomy within the new state of Iraq. In 1930, following
Iraq’s admission into the League of Nations, Mahmoud instigated a third uprising
which was suppressed with British air and ground forces.

By 1927, the Barzani clan had also become vocal supporters of Kurdish rights
in Iraq. In 1929, the Barzanis demanded the formation of a Kurdish province in
northern Iraq. Emboldened by these demands, in 1931 Kurdish representatives
petitioned the League of Nations to set up an independent Kurdish government.
Under pressure from the Iraqi government and the British, the most influential
leader of the clan, Mustafa Barzani was forced into exile in Iran in 1945. He later
relocated to the Soviet Union.

After the 1958 military coup in Iraq led by Abdul Karim Qasim, Barzani saw
an opening for the Kurds and returned from exile to establish his own political
party, the Kurdistan Democratic Party, which was granted legal status in 1960.
Soon afterward, Qasim attempted to turn the Baradost and Zebari tribes against
Barzani. In June 1961, Barzani led his first revolt against the Iraqi government
with the aim of securing Kurdish autonomy. Qasim’s government was not able
to subdue the insurrection. The Ba’athist coup against Qasim in February 1963
resulted from his inability to deal with the Kurds forcefully. A ceasefire with the
Kurds in 1964 caused a split among Kurdish radicals and traditional forces led by
Barzani.

Barzani agreed to the ceasefire and expelled the radicals from the party. Seiz-
ing the opportunity of a crack in Kurdish unity, the central government in Baghdad
moved against the Kurds militarily once again. This campaign failed in 1966, when
Barzani’s forces defeated the Iraqi Army near Rawanduz. Subsequently, the gov-
ernment in Baghdad issued a twelve-point peace program. The program was not
implemented, however, because of a bloodless coup by the military in 1968 which
installed the Ba’athist general Ahmad Hassan al-Bakr. The new regime began a
fresh campaign to end the Kurdish insurrection, however the campaign was stalled
in 1969 as an internal power struggle in Baghdad and tensions with Iran began to
mount. Relenting to Soviet pressure to come to terms with Barzani, the al-Bakr
government entered into a broadened peace plan providing for greater Kurdish
autonomy within Iraq. The plan also granted Kurds representation in government
bodies.

Simultaneously, the Iraqi government embarked on an Arabization program
in the oil rich regions of Kirkuk and Khanaqin of Iraqi Kurdistan. Importing and
resettling Sunni Arabs into the region became a priority for the Sunni-dominated
minority government in Baghdad. In 1974, the government began a new offensive
against the Kurds, pushing them closer to the border with Iran. Iraq negotiated
with Iran to end Iranian support for the Iraqi Kurds in exchange for the settlement
of border territory in Iran’s favor. The 1975 Algiers Accords memorialized this
agreement and Tehran cut supplies to the Kurdish movement. Support of the Kurds
from the United States was also withdrawn.
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Barzani, nevertheless, fled to Iran with many of his supporters. Others sur-
rendered en masse and the resistance to Baghdad’s control was quashed. The Iraqi
government steadily extended its control over the northern region and advanced
its Arabization program. In response to the government’s repopulation policies,
renewed clashes between Kurdish guerillas and Iraqi troops occurred in 1977. To
punish the Kurds, Saddam’s government leveled 600 Kurdish villages and forcibly
removed 200,000 Kurds to other parts of the country in what was the beginning
of a massive internal Kurdish diaspora.

Although the Iraqi Kurds had been severely mistreated under successive Arab
regimes, it was nothing compared to what they would experience under the iron
fist of Saddam Hussein who engineered his control over the government and the
Ba’ath Party completely by 1977 and eased al-Bakr from the presidency by 1979.



The Anfal Campaigns

To understand what happened to the Kurds in Iraq under Saddam Hussein, one
must first understand the context of the Iran—Iraq War. Saddam never supported
the 1975 Algiers Accords, which ceded 518 square kilometers of oil-rich territory
adjacent to the Shatt al-Arab (a river on the border) to Iran in exchange for
Iran’s agreement to stop supporting Kurdish rebels in northern Iraq. And by 1979,
the political landscape had changed dramatically. In Iraq, al-Bakr was dead and
Saddam had emerged as the undisputed strongman. In Iran, the Shah had fled
the country and the ayatollahs were completing their revolution amid continuing
chaos. In the following year, having consolidated his power in Iraq and eliminated
any immediate threat from his enemies, Saddam sought to take advantage of the
turmoil in neighboring Iran and restore the Iraqi lands lost under the Algiers
Accords.

Iraq’s army crossed into Iran in September 1980, advancing to the outskirts
of Abadan. Ayatollah Khomeni used the invasion to in turn consolidate his own
power and rally Iranians to defend their homeland. Thus began the great clash
between two large oil producers that would result in massive casualties on both
sides during the ensuing eight years. As with most Cold War-era conflicts, the
world took sides. Islamic countries were split between supporting the secular
Islam, embodied by Saddam, and fanatical Islam, supported by the Ayatollah. The
superpowers supported Iraq officially, but clandestinely assisted Iran—perhaps the
most embarrassing demonstration was the Reagan Administration’s secret sale of
arms to Iran that secured funding for the U.S. intervention in Nicaragua.

By 1982, Iran had reversed the Iraqi invasion, restoring the border region. By
1984, Iran had driven into Iraq itself, secured the desert around Basra in the south,
and cut Iraq off from the Persian Gulf. Desperate to restore the balance of the



THE ANFAL CAMPAIGNS 21

war and stem the gradual Iranian advance, Saddam employed chemical weapons
against Iranian forces. These weapons proved an effective method of offsetting the
advantage of Iran’s much larger troop numbers, which Iranian generals had been
sending across the border as “human waves.” A recently declassified 1983 U.S.
State Department memo assessing Saddam’s use of chemical weapons quotes him
as saying: “There is a weapon for every battle, and we have the weapon that will
confront great numbers.”!

Despite the use of chemical weapons against it, by the spring of 1987, Iran
was making significant advances in the north, which Saddam correctly ascribed
to assistance from Iraqi Kurdish sympathizers. Iran opened this second front in
the rugged and easily defensible terrain of Iraqi Kurdistan. During the early years
of the war, Saddam had ceded de facto control over much of the rural north to
the Kurds and their peshmerga (guerilla fighters). But Iranian troops threatened to
occupy more and more border territory with the mounting support of Iraqi Kurds.
Thus, the vital Kirkuk oil fields, only a hundred miles from the border, were no
longer safe from Iranian and/or Kurdish sabotage.

To handle what was referred to in captured Iraqi documents as “the Kurdish
problem,” Saddam tasked his cousin Ali Hassan al-Majid, leader of the Ba’ath
Party’s northern bureau, with the job of eradicating all resistance and granted him
emergency powers to do so. Al-Majid then undertook a series of eight military
campaigns against Kurdish “saboteurs” from 1987 to 1989. What began as a coun-
terinsurgency during wartime ended in genocide, however. That the evidentiary
trail of the ensuing military campaigns so clearly tells the story is a rarity in the
annals of human rights, and is indeed a story in itself.

After Saddam’s defeat in the first Gulf War in 1991, his beleaguered troops
fell back under pressure from advancing forces led by Kurdish peshmerga militia
fighters, who were reinforced by Kurdish refugees returning from their cousins’
homelands in neighboring Turkey and Iran. This liberation of northern Iraq would
prove fleeting as the United States withdrew its support, allowing Saddam’s forces
to later return en masse to put down the uprising. International nongovernmental
organizations seized the short window of opportunity to get into northern Iraq and
dispense aid to the returning populations as well as collect valuable evidence on
the genocide many believed had occurred there three years earlier.

Middle East Watch, a regional division of Human Rights Watch, teamed up
with Physicians for Human Rights to survey the mass graves that were being
uncovered by the local Kurdish population. Over a ten-day period in 1991, several
mass graves were exhumed near the Kurdish cities of Erbil and Suleimaniyeh.
Large caches of Iraqi government and military records were also captured as hastily
evacuated secret police buildings and government installations were stormed by
advancing Kurds.

Peter Galbraith was dispatched by the U.S. Senate Foreign Relations Com-
mittee to broker a deal with the Kurds to secure the documents as Saddam was
preparing to retake the north. Custody of the documents was secured with the
assistance of Middle East Watch, and, in 1992, fourteen tons of documents were
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transferred to the Senate Committee where they remain to date. These, together
with the forensic findings of Physicians for Human Rights and interviews con-
ducted by Middle East Watch of 350 Kurdish survivors and eyewitnesses of
the genocide, form the basis of a 1993 report: The Anfal Campaign against the
Kurds.

This report recounts the initial systematic bureaucratic groundwork laid by
al-Majid for his conduct of what would later become known as “the Anfal”:

In the first three months after assuming his post as secretary general of the Ba’ath
Party’s Northern Bureau, Ali Hassan al-Majid began the process of definition of the
group that would be targeted by Anfal, and vastly expanded the range of repressive
activities against all rural Kurds. He decreed that “saboteurs” would lose their property
rights, suspended the legal rights of all the residents of prohibited villages, and began
ordering the execution of first-degree relatives of “saboteurs” and of wounded civilians
whose hostility to the regime had been determined by the intelligence services.

In June 1987, al-Majid issued two successive sets of standing orders that were
to govern the conduct of the security forces through the Anfal campaign and beyond.
These orders were based on the simple axiom on which the regime now operated: in
the “prohibited” rural areas, all resident Kurds were coterminous with the peshmerga
insurgents, and they would be dealt with accordingly.

The first of al-Majid’s directives bans all human existence in the prohibited areas,
to be applied through a shoot-to-kill policy. The second, numbered SF/4008, dated June
20, 1987, modifies and expands upon these orders. It constitutes a bald incitement to
mass murder, spelled out in the most chilling detail. In clause 4, army commanders are
ordered “to carry out random bombardments, using artillery, helicopters and aircraft,
at all times of the day or night, in order to kill the largest number of persons present
in these prohibited zones.” In clause 5, al-Majid orders that, “All persons captured in
those villages shall be detained and interrogated by the security services and those
between the ages of 15 and 70 shall be executed after any useful information has been
obtained from them, of which we should be duly notified.”

Even as this legal and bureaucratic structure was being set in place, the Iraqi
regime became the first in history to attack its own civilian population with chemical
weapons. On April 15, 1987, Iraqi aircraft dropped poison gas on the [Kurdistan
Democratic Party] headquarters at Zewa Shkan, close to the Turkish border in Dohuk
governorate, and the [Patriotic Union of Kurdistan] headquarters in the twin villages of
Sergalou and Bergalou, in the governorate of Suleimaniyeh. The following afternoon,
they dropped chemicals on the undefended civilian villages of Sheikh Wasan and
Balisan, killing well over a hundred people, most of them women and children. Scores
of other victims of the attack were abducted from their hospital beds in the city of
Erbil, where they had been taken for treatment of their burns and blindness. They
have never been seen again. These incidents were the first of at least forty documented
chemical attacks on Kurdish targets over the succeeding eighteen months.?

Al-Majid employed a variety of chemical weapons during the Anfal campaign,
including mustard gas, a blistering agent and Sarin, a nerve agent known as GB.
His penchant for this method of extermination earned him the sobriquet “Chemical
Ali,” and a fearful reputation for brutality almost matching that of Saddam himself.
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The Anfal Campaigns: February — September 1988
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Figure 2.1. The Anfal Campaigns. Source: Michael Miller, Middle East Watch. © 1994
Michael S. Miller.

Galbraith, who secured the documentary evidence for the Senate and later went on
to become ambassador to Croatia, characterized al-Majid as the “Josef Mengele of
[the Anfal] operation,” referring to the Nazi doctor who carried out experiments
on Jews. “It was a deadly experiment to see which of these weapons were the most
effective.”

One survivor of al-Majid’s April 1987 chemical attacks on Kurdish villages in
the Balisan valley described the effect of the pink, gray, and yellow gases drifting
through the towns:

It was all dark, covered with darkness, we could not see anything. . . . It was like a fog.
And then everyone became blind. Some vomited. Faces turned black; people experi-
enced painful swellings under the arm, and women under their breasts. Later, a yellow
watery discharge would ooze from the eyes and nose. Many of those who survived
suffered severe vision disturbances, or total blindness for up to a month....Some
villagers ran into the mountains and died there. Others, who had been closer to the
place of impact of the bombs, died where they stood.*

The Anfal campaigns occurred over a large range of Kurdish-inhabited north-
ern Iraq and, based upon the documents secured by Middle East Watch and witness
testimony, can be subdivided into eight distinct military operations all sharing the
same objective—elimination of the Kurds (see Figure 2.1). All shared the ultimate
chain of command up through General al-Majid directly to Saddam Hussein.
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FIRST ANFAL: THE SIEGE OF SERGALOU AND BERGALOU, FEBRUARY
23-MARCH 19, 1988

The Patriotic Union of Kurdistan (PUK) was a political and military force
resisting the rule of Saddam. It was led by Jalal Talabani, who went on to assume
the postwar presidency of Iraq in April 2005. The PUK and Mr. Talabani were
high on Saddam’s hit list, and the PUK’s collusion with Iran during the war
provided enough of a pretext for decimating the Kurdish civilian population that
was supporting them. The PUK’s main redoubt was nestled deep in the mountains
of Suleimaniyeh in the Jafati valley. Its underground radio and communications
operations were carried out in nearby Bergalou, which also housed a small field
hospital. The peshmergas, PUK’s military insurgents, operated out of Sergalou, a
village of about 3,500 people.

Saddam’s targets were clear, and on the night of February 23, 1988, between
1:30 A.M. and 2:00 a.M., his forces began shelling villages in the Jafati valley
during a heavy rainstorm. At dawn, ground troops attacked. The peshmergas held
out for three weeks and the villagers hid in local caves—about 250 people were
killed during the siege. Then as Saddam’s army began its breakthrough and village
after village was razed, Kurds began fleeing en masse eastward toward the Iranian
border.

It was still winter in the mountains and the bedraggled Kurds were harassed
by bombers and warplanes as they fled. One survivor from Sergalou said, “We
left behind all the properties accumulated over fifty years. . .. The people moved
like a panicked herd of cattle through the mountains in the direction of Iran. It
was raining. There were warplanes overhead. . . . Six people from Sergalou froze
to death along the way, and another thirty from other villages in the same valley.
At least eighty people died from exposure during the long trek to the border.
Stragglers were offered safety, only to be indefinitely detained and then ultimately
disappear. Trick amnesties would become a ubiquitous tactic employed by the
Iraqi military during the Anfals.

PUK’s headquarters had fallen and the peshmergas had been dispersed. How-
ever, the Anfals had only just begun. The chemical gassing of the city of Halabja
was next on General al-Majid’s agenda. That atrocity, discussed in the next chapter
in greater detail, unfolded on March 16, 1988.

SECOND ANFAL: QARA DAGH, MARCH 22-APRIL 1, 1988

By March 22, Saddam’s forces had turned their attention to the lowlands of
the Qara Dagh mountains and to three villages of PUK activity in particular—
Takiyeh and Balagjar, which were easily overrun, and Sayw Senan, which suffered
a devastating chemical attack on the first day of spring. A farmer named Omar
who came to Sayw Senan after the attack recalled, “We saw the bodies of those
who had died inside the village. I helped bury sixty-seven with my own hands in
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Koshk village after we took them there on tractors. We laid them all in one big
grave in the Jaji Raqa graveyard, with their clothes on. Another fourteen bodies
were buried in Asteli Serru village. They had died instantly. They were bleeding
from the nose; it was as if their brains had exploded.”6

The ground assault began the next day, after the chemicals had subsided,
leading to a mass exodus of the general Kurdish population. People fled into the
hillsides to the north, hoping to eventually find sanctuary in Suleimaniyeh. They
were harassed all the way by a confusing dragnet of Iraqi soldiers, Saddam’s
intelligence forces, and jahsh militia—Kurdish turncoats and informants working
for Saddam. Women and children generally made it through, the men, however,
did not.

The rest of the Kurds in the area fled south from Zerda Mountain toward
Germian. Saddam’s troops began systematically razing all the villages in the Qara
Dagh region and continued their pursuit of the terrified refugees. The PUK’s
peshmerga fighters had been routed in the mountains and were fleeing behind the
civilians. Artillery rained down upon the mass of moving people as they evacuated
to Germian, a large rolling plain that would be the sight of the third Anfal once
Saddam’s troops had caught up with them.

THIRD ANFAL: GERMIAN, APRIL 7-20, 1988

By the second week in April, ragged peshmerga fighters and the weary Kurds
from Qara Dagh had made their way into Germian villages along the Awa Su
River, or the “white river” named after its milky waters. Unlike the strategic Jafati
valley of the first Anfal or even the lowlands of Qara Dagh of the second Anfal,
the great plain of Germian, bisected only by the small river, offered no geographic
fortifications from which the remnants of Kurdish forces could hope to mount a
viable defense and give the civilians a chance to flee.

Iraqi troop columns converged on the plain from eight directions. Massive pin-
cer movements encircled peshmerga positions and funneled civilian refugee flows
into designated “collection points.” Military units reported back to their respective
commands messages like this one from the Kalar column: “All the villages that
the convoy passed through were destroyed and burned, since most of the villages
were not marked on the map.”” The names of obliterated villages correlated to
sites of mass disappearances according to the Middle East Watch report.

The third Anfal was divided into three phases centering on Tuz Khurmata,
Qader Karam and northern Germian, and Sengaw and southern Germian res-
pectively. These campaigns differed markedly from the second Anfal—where
military-aged men were the primary focus. Women and children disappeared in
large numbers as entire villages were wiped out during this larger scale Anfal
campaign.

Three task forces swept into the area during the Tuz Khurmata phase. British-
supplied Hawker Hunter aircraft were used to drop chemical weapons sending up
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large clouds of white smoke. Aisha, one of the witnesses interviewed by Middle
East Watch, was a twenty-year-old pregnant woman who watched the attacks from
a hilltop. Upon descending in the evening, she discovered the bodies of twenty-five
peshmerga and dead goats, cows, and birds—all victims of gas. She collected her
children and headed for the hills. Eventually, she found refuge in a cave with other
villagers. There, she gave birth to her baby. Too weak from hunger to nurse, she
ventured out on the third day in search of food, but was picked up by a jahsh patrol
and taken to a nearby school where people were being held.

There she found food and waited as more villagers surrendered themselves,
filling the building. When the Iraqi army arrived and took over from the jahsh,
soldiers began loading men into military buses and then women and children. Sur-
prisingly, an officer took pity on her and allowed her to leave for Suleimaniyeh to
the north. In one of the rare happy endings of the Anfal tragedy, Aisha was
later reunited with the baby she had left behind in the cave with other vil-
lagers, although her husband, brothers, and twelve other family members did not
return.®

The second phase of the campaign centered on Qader Karam and the northern
sector of Germian. The thrust of this campaign resulted in villagers fleeing from
scores of towns surrounding the recently emptied Qader Karam, including the
many Jabari hamlets of the Zangana tribe, Mahmoud Parizad, Tazashar, Hanara,
Golama, Bangol, Qeitoul, Garawi, and Qirtsa. Once evacuated, Iraqi troops torched
the buildings and bulldozed the smoldering remains of the towns. Mass roundups
of surviving and surrendering villagers commonly resulted in people being loaded
onto buses that disappeared over the horizon. The refugee migration from this
phase of the third Anfal flowed into four collection centers: Chamchamal, Qader
Karam, Leilan, and Aliawa.

The third phase of the campaign likewise focused on collecting the panicked
Kurdish population in some organized way while simultaneously crushing the
remnants of peshmerga resistance. At the outset, nearly twenty villages were
destroyed at the Awa Spi River’s source, villagers were driven toward Chamchamal
and the peshmerga were driven up against the southern edge of the Qara Dagh
mountains. Similar tactics swept the southern sector of Germian clear as civilian
casualties mounted; pershmerga were annihilated and villagers were relocated en
masse on trucks or on foot. The collection centers for this phase of the campaign
were Tuz Khurmatu and Qoratu.

Those interned at the collection centers were separated by sex and age. Many
were beaten and malnourished. Most were ultimately removed to larger detention
camps at Topzawa, Tikrit, and Nugra and Salman in the desert stretching to the
Saudi border, and to the women’s prison in Dibs. At Topzawa, which housed four
to five thousand Kurds in a given week, the men were crammed into large holding
halls so tightly that they could not lie down and had to squat all night—those who
stood were beaten. Little provision was made for sanitation and all had diarrhea
from the oily bone-laden soup that was served. The women and children were
terrorized differently. Guards routinely removed children and infants from their
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mothers—taken away for the night only to be returned in some cases the next
day without explanation. Some younger children died of starvation; soldiers threw
their bodies into outside pits.

Brutality also reigned in the camp at Tikrit. Muhammad, a man in his sixties
from Talau, witnessed abuses by the Amn—Saddam’s intelligence agents:

On the first morning, they separated the men into small groups and beat them. Four
soldiers would beat one captive; the other prisoners could see this. About fifteen
or twenty men were in each group that was taken a little way off to be kicked and
beaten with sticks and [coaxial] cables. They were taken away in the early morning and
returned in the afternoon. The soldiers did not gather the men by name, but just pointed,
“you, and you” and so on. They were Amn from Tikrit and Kirkuk; butchers, we know
them. When one group of beaten men returned, they took another and beat them. That
night, I was in a group of ten or twelve men that was taken out and blindfolded, with
our hands tied behind us. They took us in three or four cars to somewhere in Tikrit. We
drove around all night, barely stopping. They asked me no questions. The captured
men could not talk to each other. Everyone was thinking of his own destiny. Of the
ten or twelve they took out that night, only five returned. The next night, when I was
back in the hall, Amn came and asked for men to volunteer for the war against Iran.
Eighty men volunteered. But it was a lie; they disappeared. A committee was set up by
Amn to process the prisoners, who were ordered to squat while the Amn agents took
all their money and put it in a big sack. They also took all our documents. The Amn
agents were shouting at us to scare us. “Bring weapons to kill them,” said one. “They
are poor, don’t shoot them,” said another. And another: “I wish we had killed all of
them.” Later that night the Amn came back and took all the young men away. Only
the elderly remained. The young men were taken away in Nissan buses, ten or more
of them, each with a capacity of forty-five people. Their documents had already been
taken; they left with nothing but the clothes on their backs. I never heard from them
again. There were no messages, nothing. No one ever saw them again. Only Saddam
Hussein knows.’

Dibs served as the women’s prison—which was a step up from conditions
at Topzawa. Women here could use the bathroom without restriction and rations
were no longer near-starvation. The general treatment remained bad and many
calamities befell the children. Buses would regularly appear and load up what
appeared to be random prisoners for transport to a grimmer destination—Nugra
Salman, in the middle of the southern desert.

Nugra Salman housed between six and eight thousand Kurds. It quickly
became known as a last stop for the elderly and infirm. Inmates, infested by lice
and beaten steadily, survived on bread and nonpotable water. Over 500 died here
between April and September 1988. Bodies were left by guards to rot in the desert
sun for up to three days before removal in bags that were taken out for garbage.

Those who had surrendered to the jahsh and government troops expecting
amnesty ended up in these camps and had many months to languish and second-
guess their decision if they survived.
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FOURTH ANFAL: THE VALLEY OF THE LESSER ZAB, MAY 3-8, 1988

The remaining peshmerga, accompanying the fleeing civilians heading north
along the Lesser Zab River, divided themselves into three forces to provide what
protection they could for the large contingents of women and children. As Sad-
dam’s troops regrouped in the Germian to head north, his air force undertook a
series of strikes against the towns of Goktapa and Askar, further north, where the
PUK had tried to reestablish its command.

A formation of MIGs flew in low overhead, followed by eight “dull explo-
sions” and spreading white smoke smelling of mint. The gas cloud drifted a couple
of miles down to the river. Dead fish floated to the surface of water on the Lesser
Zab where one of the bombs fell. Horrified villagers ran in all directions covering
their faces with wet towels. Survivors claim to have buried 300 people from that
attack. Yasin, a woman in her sixties who helped with the burials, said, “Some of
their faces were black, covered with smoke. Others were ordinary but stiff. I saw
one mother, nursing her infant, stiffened in that position.”!’

Twelve hours later, ground forces moved in—scattering the dazed population
in all directions. The sluices of the nearby dam were opened and the waters of the
Lesser Zab began to rise, preventing the refugees from crossing and pinning them
along the valley. Most were funneled into Qamisha where the army was waiting
for them. Peshmerga established rearguard actions en route, but to little avail. At
Qamisha, Iraqi troops stripped Kurds of their money, valuables, and documents
while homes were systematically looted and burned. The story was repeated at
other small towns-turned refugee camps along the river. Those who managed to
escape went beyond the valley, to where the Lesser Zab empties into the vast
plain between Erbil and Kirkuk, and sought refuge where they could in Shwan
area villages. However, with no meaningful defense, Iraqi forces swept the area
quickly and routed them to collection points in Harmota and Taqtaq. From there,
transport to the camps awaited them.

FIFTH, SIXTH AND, SEVENTH ANFALS: THE MOUNTAIN VALLEYS
OF SHAQLAWA AND RAWANDUZ, MAY 15-AUGUST 26, 1988

This was the PUK’s last stand. Jalal Talabani’s loyal peshmerga resistance
fighters had been dislodged from their stronghold in the Jafati valley after a fierce
siege, pursued through the mountains of Qara Dagh, swept from the plains of
Germian, and pushed out of the valley of the Lesser Zab. By the middle of May,
they were preparing for their final battle—cornered in the steep mountains north of
Dukan Lake, south of the town of Rawanduz and just west of the Iranian frontier.

The strength of peshmerga positions in the Balisan region explains why three
separate campaigns occurred here. Unlike prior Anfals, the fifth and sixth failed
to achieve their objectives. Peshmerga and civilians clung tightly to their cave
hideouts and survived repeated gas attacks. Iraqi air force units, some of which
were Russian-built Sukhoi fighter-bombers, dropped cluster bombs and chemical
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weapons relentlessly. But when the bluish smoke cleared, the casualties were not
sufficient for Saddam’s forces to consider the operation a success, although many
corpses of horse and sheep littered the fields below. The fifth Anfal reached a
stalemate on June 7, 1988. Captured military documents indicate that the Iraqi
army was frustrated about its inability to effectively attack the Kurds in and around
Korak Mountain, which rose 7,000 feet from the Alana valley.

During the break in the fighting, Jalal Talabani made his way to Washington,
DC where he attempted to plead the case of the Kurds and make the Reagan
administration aware of the genocide that was unfolding in the region. Only a
mid-level State Department officer met with Talabani, and told him frankly that
“because of his Iranian alliance, his group has enjoyed a certain degree of military
success at the expense of the Kurdish population as a whole,”’—echoing the official
line from Saddam’s regime, with whom the United States was still allied."

On July 17, 1988, the Iranians sued for peace in the Iran—Iraq War, breaching
the agreement they had struck with the PUK in 1986 that neither party would
unilaterally strike a deal with Saddam. Realizing that the full force of Saddam’s
army now would be turned against them, the Kurds holding out in this sector
decided that those who could no longer fight should take their families into the
Kurdish lands across the border in Iran. Remaining peshmerga would stay behind
and cover the retreat out of Iraq.

The sixth Anfal launched coordinated air strikes, making shambles of the
escape plan. Multiple chemical bombardments in the main valleys (Balisan,
Malakan, Warta, Hiran, and Smaquli) drove the people up into the mountain
slopes to get above the gas clouds settling along their escape routes. Then, cluster
bombs directed into the mountainsides drove them back down into the valleys—
scattering people everywhere. Iraqi units quickly collected survivors and shipped
them off to the dreadful Topzawa camp.

Despite the success of the sixth Anfal, Iraqi troops were not fast enough
to close off two main escape routes into Iran. Assisted by sympathetic jahsh
commanders, several families made it across. With the last of their people gone,
the PUK dynamited its headquarters and fled the area. No longer was the Kurdish
resistance a factor for Saddam. The seventh Anfal was a preparatory campaign
to soften-up the Badinan area—home to Barzani’s Kurdistan Democratic Party
(KDP) faction.

FINAL ANFAL: BADINAN, AUGUST 25-SEPTEMBER 6, 1988

With the defeat of the PUK, Saddam’s attention turned to the smaller KDP
faction led by Mas’oud Barzani. With the close of the Iran-Iraq War, General
al-Majid’s Anfal operations were infused with new troops and equipment from the
front and entire armies were redeployed from Fao and Basra in the south to Iraqi
Kurdistan in the north. Unlike the PUK forces, which were spread throughout
Kurdistan along the Iranian border, the KDP forces were concentrated in and
around Badinan along the Turkish border between the Greater Zab River and the
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Zargos Mountains. Although not as closely associated with the regime in Tehran
as the PUK, the KDP had been traditionally allied with the Shah and continued to
have enough ties with Iran for Saddam to easily use the same pretext for wiping
them out as he had used against the PUK.

A small band of five to six thousand KDP peshmerga faced the now-inflated
full force of 200,000 troops under al-Majid’s command in addition to the jahsh
fighters. The goal for this final Anfal was the elimination of the KDP and the de-
struction of 300400 Kurdish villages along the mountainous border with Turkey.
Fleeing into the Kurdish lands of Turkey would prove problematic, as Turkish
forces were waging a low-level war against their own Kurdish insurgent group,
the Kurdistan Workers’ Party (PKK), led by Abdullah Ocalan. Consequently, Iraqi
Kurds would be faced with the Hobson’s choice of moving between conflicts or
into Arab lands as there would be little sanctuary within the now cleared Anfal
areas to the east.

The final Anfal was characterized by a heavier-than-usual reliance on chemical
weapons. Saddam, apparently, had decided to use the remainder of his wartime
supply on the Kurds rather than risk storing it. On the evening of August 24, 1988,
KDP headquarters at Zewa Shkan was hit with gas. The following morning, Iraqi
warplanes began bombing villages in earnest along a large strip of territory sixty
miles wide by twenty miles deep.

A combination of mustard gas and Sarin nerve gas was used to deadly effect. A
villager from Birjinni witnessed three planes making a pass overhead and dropping
four bombs each, from which clouds of smoke rose “white, black and then yellow,
rising about fifty or sixty yards into the air in a column. Then the column began
to break up and drift. It drifted down into the valley and then passed through
the village. Then we smelled the gas. It smelled of apples and something sweet.
[Soon] it became bitter. It affected our eyes and our mouths and our skin. All of a
sudden it was hard to breathe.”'? The final Anfal had begun.

The army later attacked on the ground, moving north in an attempt to seal the
Turkish border. Those who lived along the frontier made it across (between 65,000
and 80,000 Kurds), and those who didn’t were arrested and disappeared. Much of
General al-Majid’s firepower was concentrated on Gara Mountain, which forms a
ridge stretching twenty miles. Between fifteen and thirty villages were targeted by
the air force. The spread of the bombings was so wide that no village in the Anfal
zone was more than twenty-five miles away from a chemical attack. Gas literally
blanketed the area.

Realizing that a safe mass exodus across the border was not possible given
the terrain, age of the refugees (majority of them were either old or young), vastly
superior numbers of Iraqi troops, and that further resistance would trigger more
chemical attacks, KDP headquarters issued an order to its peshmerga to advise
fleeing Kurds to submit and hope for mercy. The occupation of Badinan and
detention of the panicked Kurds was achieved on August 28, 1988.

Women and children were mostly spared in the final Anfal as KDP resistance
faded early in the campaign. The men, however, were all suspected peshmerga
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and were specifically targeted for summary execution upon surrender. According
to a former lieutenant colonel in the Iraqi Army, directives 3650 and 4008 from
the military high command were clear: “We received orders to kill all peshmerga,
even those who surrendered. Even civilian farmers were regarded as peshmerga if
they were working within a prohibited area. All men in the prohibited areas, aged
between 15 and 60, were to be considered saboteurs and killed. The prohibited
areas were shown in red on the army maps, and they covered everything except the
paved highways.”!3 Mass firing squads were formed and group executions were
undertaken under the authority of local army officers.

Well over 13,000 Kurds were collected and sent to a new camp established at
Dohuk Fort, a Soviet-style concrete bunker. Dohuk Fort proved just as horrendous
as the camp at Topzawa, if not more so, in that there was no attempt to feed
the inmates. The survivors instead relied primarily on handouts from sympathetic
villagers and guards. The detainees were crammed into cells “strewn with human
waste”—which one prisoner recalled was like living in a toilet. Hunger and disease,
interspersed with beatings and interrogations, became the order of the day.

Eventually, the younger men were massed and bundled onto outbound buses,
never to be seen again. Women and children were also rounded up, but they were
bused south to Mosul in large convoys. There they were detained for about two
and half weeks outside the town of Salamiyeh on the east bank of the Tigris River.

AFTERMATH OF THE ANFALS

With the PUK and KDP no longer significant security issues, the depopula-
tions of key Kurdish areas achieved, and the Iran—-Iraq War over, Saddam issued
a general amnesty for all Kurds on September 6, 1988. Decree number 736 came
into effect immediately. The stories of the Anfals had been leaking out to the West-
ern media from Kurdish refugees hiding in Turkey. General al-Majid was given
special command powers to resettle the Kurds as they returned. However, they
would not be settled in their now destroyed villages. Returning Kurds would be
settled where General al-Majid wanted them settled and they would be permitted
to build their own houses in designated areas.

“Repatriated” Kurds were forced to sign a statement which read: “I, the
undersigned (....) testify that I live in the governorate of (....), in the section
of (....), residence number (....), and I recognize that I will face the death
penalty should the information indicated be false, or should I alter my address
without notifying the appropriate administration and authorities. To this I affirm
my support.”!4

The detention camps were emptied at regular intervals and buses driven north
to over a dozen complexes set up to receive the former inmates. The trip north
was as chaotic and traumatic as the trip south had been. Upon arrival, those who
attempted to return to their ruined homesteads were executed. The city of Erbil
became a makeshift staging area from which returnees left for their new designated
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areas—which were not supplied with food, water, building materials, or shelter.
Influenza, hepatitis, and typhoid further depleted the ranks of returning Kurds,
who survived only on the charity of the citizens of Erbil.

Vast “prohibited areas” were demarcated around where the Kurds resettled—
devoid of human habitation or agricultural cultivation. Without the ability to
sustain themselves, the Kurds became completely reliant on food aid from the
international community.

All told, the Anfal campaign against the Kurds claimed between 100,000 and
200,000 lives by a conservative estimate. However, no single action accounts for all
the casualties. There were multiple mass murders, multiple mass disappearances,
forced displacement of hundreds of thousands of noncombatants, destruction of
2,000 villages that were classified in Iraqi government documents as “burned,”
“destroyed,” “demolished,” or “purified,” and the razing of a dozen larger Kurdish
towns and administrative centers. Altogether, 4049 villages were leveled.

The deadly combination of methods employed against the Kurds during the
eight Anfals intertwines to form the most complete picture of genocide. Although
the successive gassings are perhaps the starkest examples, conventional killing
by shooting accounted for equal numbers of deaths. For instance, the majority
of Kurdish detainees sent to Topzawa were registered and segregated. Adult and
teenage males were then loaded onto closed trucks and taken to the execution
grounds at places like Ramadi and Hatra, where they were lined up next to large
pits and shot. The trenches were covered once full.

The elderly were mostly bused to the camp at Nugra Salman in the Iraqi desert,
where death rates averaged four to five per day from exposure and infection. The
women and children went elsewhere. They were usually taken to Dibs, a camp
close to the Kirkuk-Mosul highway, where many of the children succumbed to
dysentery and malnutrition. About half of the women were taken to death pits like
the one at Samawa.

Forced deportation, typically accompanied by the razing of villages, was also
a common feature of the Anfals. By the end of the campaigns, 1.5 million Kurds
had been forcibly resettled. This was part of an overall scheme by Saddam to
rearrange Kurdistan in northern Iraq, placing more key areas under Arab control.
So unlike discreet acts of genocide undertaken in places like Srebrenica where
Bosnian Muslim men were singled out and shot at or large-scale genocidal assaults
like that which occurred at the sharp end of a machete in Rwanda, the genocide
of Iraq’s Kurds came in multiple waves. It was protracted as opposed to sudden.
Another distinguishing feature of the Anfals is that the genocide was effectuated
through a variety of methods and was followed by a general amnesty put in place
by the same regime that undertook the atrocities. Yet genocide it was.



The Gassing of Halabja

Halabja lies roughly ten miles inside Iraq from the Iranian border in southern
Kurdistan—about 150 miles northeast of Baghdad. The town’s Kurdish residents
speak the Hewrami and Sorani dialects. They are Sunni Muslims—the same reli-
gion as Saddam’s and his Arab regime but not of the same ethnicity. The population
of Halabja in 1988 was 40,000, but this was enlarged by another 20,000 Kurds
from surrounding villages who were fleeing the war.

On March 13, 1988, Iranian forces began shelling Iraqi military positions in
and around Halabja, and by March 15th Iranian advance forces were already on the
streets of the city. Local Kurds did not resist the Iranian advance and the Patriotic
Union of Kurdistan’s (PUK) peshmerga in fact facilitated it. Saddam’s forces
counterattacked the next day, first with napalm—stripping away huge swaths of
the city and citizens with massive firestorms—then with conventional bombs and
artillery, and finally with gas.

Although it occurred at the beginning of the Anfal campaign, the attack
on Halabja was not considered part of the Anfals because, in the bureaucratic
mindset of the Iraqi government, Halabja was a city. The Anfals were undertaken
specifically to deal with the Kurdish rural population—wiping out the villages,
eradicating the PUK and Kurdistan Democratic Party (KDP), and displacing the
Kurds entirely from strategic locations.

Nevertheless, the gassing of Halabja is widely considered the single most
horrific incident during this notorious period, accounting for approximately 5,000
of the deaths suffered by the Kurds in the Anfals. Another 7,000 Kurds were
wounded, crippled, blinded, or suffered other injuries related either to the con-
ventional or chemical bombings of the city. Consequently, Halabja has become
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emblematic of the Kurdish genocide, much as Srebrenica is for the Bosnian geno-
cide or Auschwitz for the Jewish Holocaust.

According to a 2002 U.S. State Department report, General al-Majid’s coldly
diabolical approach can be discerned from his methodology of extermination.
Knowing that the gasses he intended to use were heavier than air and would thus
sink, he opened the March 16 attack on Halabja with a conventional artillery
bombardment for several hours, setting off the air raid sirens. This drove the local
Kurdish population down into tunnels, cellars, and basements.

Those underground shelters became gas chambers as al-Majid unleashed
his bombardment of poison. Aboveground, animals died and birds dropped out
of trees. Belowground, humans met their end, trapped. Those who managed to
scramble to the surface emerged into thick clouds of chemical gas:

Dead bodies—human and animal—Ilittered the streets, huddled in doorways, slumped
over the steering wheels of their cars. Survivors stumbled around, laughing hysterically,
before collapsing. . . . Those who had been directly exposed to the gas found that their
symptoms worsened as the night wore on. Many children died along the way and were
abandoned where they fell.!

Agiza, who was eight years old and out in the fields when her village near
Bahdinan was gassed, remembered seeing the planes come in and drop bombs.
She recalled an experience similar to those recounted by survivors of Halabja:

It made smoke, yellowish-white smoke. It had a bad smell like DDT, the powder they
kill insects with. It had a bitter taste. . .. saw my parents fall down with my brother
after the attack, and they told me they were dead. I looked at their skin and it was
black and they weren’t moving. And I was scared and crying and I did not know
what to do. I saw their skin turn dark and blood coming out from their mouths and
from their noses. [ wanted to touch them but they stopped me and I started crying
again.?

Aras Abed Akra was twenty-two years old at the time of the gassing. He
recounted his story to a Financial Times reporter in 2002: “We could smell some-
thing strange like apples. Down in our shelter we felt short of breath. A soldier
went out and next door he saw that the caged birds of our neighbour were all
dead. We stayed in the shelter until evening, but then I just wanted to escape. We
wrapped our faces in wet towels. It was hard to breathe. One friend became blind
immediately when he removed his towel. We got confused and lost, couldn’t see
more than a metre ahead.””

Medical camps were quickly set up across the border in Iran, which had
experience dealing with the aftereffects of poison gas that Saddam had used on
Iranian soldiers earlier in the war. Survivors who were strong enough streamed into
Iran. Kaveh Golestan, a Pulitzer Prize winning Iranian photographer, witnessed
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the Iraqi MiG-26 sortie from outside Halabja, noting, “It was not as big as a nuclear
mushroom cloud, but several smaller ones: thick smoke.” Golestan, then entered
the city after the bombing with a gas mask and protective suit to cover the story
via military helicopter:

It was life frozen. Life had stopped, like watching a film and suddenly it hangs on one
frame. It was a new kind of death to me. You went into a room, a kitchen and you saw
the body of a woman holding a knife where she had been cutting a carrot.

The aftermath was worse. Victims were still being brought in. Some villagers
came to our chopper. They had 15 or 16 beautiful children, begging us to take them
to hospital. So all the press sat there and we were each handed a child to carry. As we
took off, fluid came out of my little girl’s mouth and she died in my arms.*

Once the gassings were complete, an effectiveness evaluation by Iraqi au-
thorities began. According to Dr. Christine Gosden, a British professor of medical
genetics at Liverpool University who treated Halabja survivors, “Iraqi government
troops would be surrounding the attack site and they would have chem-bio suits
on...included would be doctors and interested observers . . . they would go in and
find out how many people were dead . . . and how many survived. What ages . . . did
men, women or children or the elderly suffer more? From there they would shoot
the survivors and burn the bodies. . ..

As photos (Figure 3.1) of dead children crumpled on steps or lying contorted
and bleached in the streets reached the world, an outcry arose at last from the
human rights community.

Despite the notice garnered in nongovernmental circles, the response to the
attack on Halabja from other states was muted silence. None could offer much
beyond platitudes, as they all had backed Saddam during the Iran-Iraq War with
arms and financing. Indeed, Germany is widely considered to have been the
industrial origin of the gas used by al-Majid during the Anfal campaign, and
Kurdish leaders have long accused France, Italy, and the Netherlands of providing
assistance to Saddam’s chemical weapons program.®

The United States was also implicated, as noted by James Tuite in his back-
ground note to a 1992 Senate Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs Committee
staff report assessing the use of chemical weapons by Saddam against American
troops in the first Gulf War:

[A]n inquiry was initiated by the Committee into the contributions that exports from
the United States played in the weapons of mass destruction programs that have
flourished under the direction of Iraqi President Saddam Hussein.

On October 27, 1992, the Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs
held hearings that revealed that the United States had exported chemical, biological,
nuclear, and missile-system equipment to Iraq that was converted to military use in
Iraq’s chemical, biological, and nuclear weapons program.’
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Figure 3.1. Kurdish father Omar Osman and his infant son, victims of the March 16,
1988 chemical gas attack on Halabja. Source: Iranian News Agency (IRNA), used with
permission from the Kurdish Democratic Party.

Saddam tried to pass off the attack as coming from the Iranians, not Iraqi
forces under General al-Majid. In fact, Iraqi troops were “sent into Halabja to
carry away all the missile casings and unexploded projectiles.” But journalists on
the scene, like Christopher Hitchens, a British columnist for Vanity Fair, stumbled
across remnants of evidence that was overlooked: “I still possess a photograph of
myself, sitting queasily next to an undetonated chemical bomb with Iraqi air force
markings. It was embedded in the basement of a ruined house, and had escaped
the vigilance of the much-vaunted Republican Guard.”®

The Reagan administration, which was then backing Saddam against the Ay-
atollah, initially bought Saddam’s version of events. Intelligence collected by the
Defense Intelligence Agency concurred with Saddam’s claim (which was subse-
quently accepted and then refuted by the CIA). By then, the United States had re-
stored formal diplomatic ties with Iraq, which had been severed since 1967. Donald
Rumsfeld reopened diplomatic relations as President Reagan’s special envoy for
the Middle East. Although officially neutral during the war, billions of dollars in
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loan guarantees and other aid was flowing from Washington to Baghdad—Saddam
was considered “unsavory” but the lesser of two evils.

President Reagan justified the U.S. position on national security grounds to
maintain the steady flow of oil shipments through the Persian Gulf, as shown
specifically in paragraph three of national security decision directive 114 ( Fig-
ure 3.2), (see also other recently declassified documents pertaining to Washington’s
approach to Saddam in Appendix A).

The United States was also aware of chemical weapons possession and use
by Saddam to counter insurgents within Iraq as well as the overwhelming num-
bers of Iranians coming across the frontlines in what were known as “human
waves” (see Appendix B). The Reagan administration knew the Western origin
of the chemical compounds. While Washington officially condemned the Bagh-
dad regime for employing chemical weapons in violation of international law, it
went on to block Iranian initiatives to condemn the acts before the U.N. Security
Council.

Because the world was now on notice of Saddam’s proclivity to use poison
gas, the assertion that Iran was involved in the gassing of Halabja was no longer
widely accepted. A thorough investigation by Dr. Jean Pascal Zanders, Chair
of the Chemical and Biological Warfare Project at the Stockholm International
Peace Research Institute, concluded that Iraqi forces had bombed Halabja, not
Iran. Eventually, even the United States had to accept that Saddam had committed
the attack.

Ultimately, Saddam admitted during the first half of the Anfal trial that he
had used chemical weapons against Iran. He denied attacking the Iraqi Kurds—
despite the introduction into evidence of a 1987 memo from Iraqi military in-
telligence requesting permission from the president to use mustard gas and
Sarin against the Kurds and a reply document ordering the military to study
the possibility of a sudden strike using those weapons against both Iranians and
Kurds.

A decade after the horror that unfolded in Halabja, Dr. Gosden of the Univer-
sity of Liverpool, who initially treated the survivors decided to conduct a study
assessing the aftermath and long-term effects of the gassings on the Kurdish pop-
ulation of Halabja. The multiple types of gas used by Saddam against the Kurds
made her assessment of long-term effects particularly problematic. Nevertheless,
Dr. Gosden was able to make the following findings.

LONG-TERM EFFECTS ON THE PEOPLE OF HALABJA

There had been no systematic and detailed research study carried out in Ha-
labja in the ten years since the attack. The novel effects such as those on repro-
ductive function, congenital malformations, long term neurological and neuropsychi-
atric effects, (especially on those who were very young at the time), and cancers
in women and children are of special importance. There is no knowledge about the
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m SYSTEM II
THE WHITE HOUSE 191372 Add On)

WASHINGTON
November 26, 1983

Mational Secundity
Decisdon Pinictive 114

U.3. POLICY TOWARD THE IRAN-IRAQ WAR (87

I have reveived and approved the Terms of Reference to govern our
political and military consultations with our key Allies and the
Gulf Arab states. Political consultations should begin immedi-
ately followsd by military consultations with those Allies and
regional states which expres: a willingness to cooperata with us
in planning meeasures necessavy Lo deter or defend against atzacks
on or interfsrence with non-belligerent shipping or on critical
oil productisns and transhipnent facilitiese in the Persian Gulf.

In our consultations we should assign the highest priority to
accese arranjyements which would facilitate the rapid deploymant
of those forces necessary to defend the critical oll facilities
and transhiprent points against air or sapper attacks. Specific
recommendations bearing on U.S. plans and force deployments
should be submitted for approval following the consultations.
B

sIt is present United States policy to undertake whatever measures
may be necessary to keep the Strait of Hormuz open to interna-
tional shipping. Accordingly, U.8. military forces will attampt
to deter and, if that fails, to defeat any hostile efforts to
close the Strait to international shipping. Because of the real
and psychological impact of a curtailment ir the flow or oll from
the Persian Gulf on the international economic system, we must
assure our readiness to deal promptly with actions aimed at
disrupting that traffic. The Secrotary of Cefense and Chairman,
Joint Chiefs of Staff, in coordination with the Secretary of
State, are requested to maintain a continulrg review of tensions
in the area and to take appropriate measure: to assure the
readiness of U.S. forces to respond expeditiously. 488}
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Figure 3.2. National Security Decision Directive 114. Source: National Security Archives,
George Washington University.
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ways in which the serious and long-term damage caused by these weapons can be
treated.

What we found is sobering, if not frightening. It must serve as a wakeup call
about the need for improving our medical preparedness and national and international
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response plans to chemical weapons attack. For example, eye, respiratory, and neu-
ropsychiatric problems do not appear to respond to conventional therapy. It may be
necessary to develop new methods of research and treatment.

Severe respiratory problems. These require assessments of lung function, trials
of drugs that may be of help and consideration of the possibility of lung transplants
for the most severely affected.

Cancers. The cancer risks in this population are high and the people are dying very
young of large, aggressive, rapidly metastasizing tumors. There is a need for improved
diagnosis, surgery, pathology, and better imaging (CT, MR, and bone scans). Methods
of chemotherapy and radiotherapy for these chemical weapons-induced cancers may be
different from those of other cancers and require knowledge of the types of mutations
that lead to these cancers.

Congenital malformations. The types and range of congenital malformation are
extremely extensive, although certain major effects can be seen. These include con-
genital heart conditions, mental handicap, neural tube defects, and cleft lip and palate.
There is a need for pediatric surgeons to repair heart defects, cleft palate, etc., im-
proved diagnosis and imaging and many other forms of professional help (e.g., speech
therapy, occupational therapy, and specialist teaching for the handicapped).

Neurological and psychiatric problems. These are among the most alarming of
the effects of these weapons and are also the most difficult to quantify scientifically and
diagnose. These are the problems that make the people feel extremely desperate. Many
try to commit suicide and there are many examples of failed suicides, the surgeons
frequently have to remove bullets from people who have unsuccessfully tried to shoot
themselves. Conventional antidepressant drugs may have severe side effects on those
with nerve gas or organophosphage poisoning.

Skin and eye problems. The effects of mustard gas burns may persist for life and
cause much pain and suffering. Radical forms of therapy, such as corneal grafting for
eye problems and skin grafting for severe skin burns, may be the only real forms of
effective treatment.

Infertility miscarriages, stillbirths, neonatal, and infant deaths. Many of the
people in Halabja have two or more major problems. The occurrences of genetic
mutations and carcinogenesis in this population appear comparable with those who
were one to two kilometers from ground zero in Hiroshima and Nagasaki, and show
that the chemicals used in the attack have a general effect on the body similar to that
of ionizing radiation.

All the people who were bombarded with this awful cocktail of weapons do not
have identical problems. They received different doses; some were drenched in liquid
mustard gas and nerve agents, others breathed in vapor; some people were outside,
others were inside; and some were wrapped in clothing or wet sheets or washed off the
chemicals quickly. It is important to note that people vary in their ability to detoxify and
this is genetically determined. Finally, the DNA target for the mutagenesis is the whole
of the human genome. Many different genes may be affected; in the body, conferring
risks of cancer or disease; and, in eggs or sperm, causing congenital abnormalities or
lethality in offspring.’

Proving that Saddam possessed specific intent to commit genocide against
the Kurds would depend on the prosecution’s ability to marshal its documentary
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and testimonial evidence. Such intent could have been established if eyewitness
testimony like the following were presented:

[W]e monitored...radio communications between the political and military
leadership. . . . Saddam Hussein briefed the assembled commanders that there would
be a chemical attack on Halabja and that soldiers should wear protective clothing. ... I
heard a telephone conversation between Saddam Hussein and Ali Hassan al-Majid.
Saddam ordered him to form a working group....After the meeting Ali Hassan
al-Majid returned to the area HQ.... Aerial pictures of Halabja after the attack
were shown to Saddam Hussein and other members of the Revolutionary Command
Council.

One of the President’s bodyguards brought 30 prisoners out. They were Kurds.
The President himself shot them one after another with a Browning pistol. Another
30 prisoners were brought and the process was repeated. Saddam Hussein was laugh-
ing and obviously enjoying himself. There was blood everywhere—it was like an
abattoir. . . . Those who were still alive were eventually finished off by the security
officers.!?

Of course, Saddam was never tried for the gassing of Halabja, nor for the
Anfal campaigns. He was executed for directing the massacre of 148 Shi’a in the
village of Dujail before he could be fully held to account for the thousands of
Kurds that were wiped out on his watch.



Part Two

The Two Gulf Wars
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The 1991 Persian Gulf War

Following the stalemate of the Iran—-Iraq War and the forceful subjugation of
Iraq’s restive Kurdish and Shi’ite population, Saddam turned his attention south
to the small state of Kuwait, which is situated between Iraq and Saudi Arabia at
the northeastern corner of the Persian Gulf. Like Iraq, Kuwait was controlled by
the British following World War I. In 1961, it became the first Arab state on the
Gulf to claim independence. Iraq challenged this declaration, asserting instead that
Kuwait was an integral province of Iraq. The British dispatched troops to deter
Iraq from enforcing this claim and nothing more came of it until 1990.

With 10 percent of the world’s proven crude oil reserves and no military
to speak of, Kuwait proved much too tempting an apple not to be picked by
Saddam. With assurances from the American ambassador that the United States
had no interest in involving itself in Arab—Arab relations, muted silence from
Saudi Arabia, and Iran still licking its wounds from the devastating war with
Iraq, Saddam calculated that no one that mattered would oppose his annexation of
Kuwait based upon an historical claim.

Moreover, Saddam was simply not willing to pay his bills. Kuwait had heavily
funded Iraq’s war with Iran. When the fighting stopped, Iraq was in no position to
repay the $14 billion it still owed to Kuwait, and the Kuwaitis were not willing to
forgive the debt. Saddam attempted to raise revenue by increasing oil prices, but
Kuwait offset this by increasing production. Not surprisingly, this infuriated the
Iraqi leaders.

On August 2, 1990, Iraq launched a nighttime invasion of Kuwait at 2:00
AM. with four Republican Guard divisions and Army Special Forces units in
the vanguard with helicopter and fighter-bomber air support. Kuwait was caught
unaware and its meager forces were overrun with ease. Kuwait’s 35th Armored



44  GHOSTS OF HALABJA

Brigade fought a series of delaying actions east of the capital city as people
departed for Saudi Arabia. The emir had already departed from the royal residence
and took flight into the vast dark desert traveling west. 80 percent of Kuwait’s small
air force evacuated to bases in Bahrain and Saudi Arabia.

The war crimes committed by Saddam’s forces during their seven-month
long occupation of Kuwait were horrendous and caused much outrage in the
international press. The United Nations condemned the invasion and ordered an
immediate withdrawal of Iraqi forces which Saddam ignored. Western nations
could not ignore that Saddam’s capture of Kuwait meant a significant enlargement
of known oil reserves under his control. Moreover, if Saddam annexed the Hama
oil fields just across the border in eastern Saudi Arabia (which also only had a
meager military), he would have the largest share of the world’s oil supply, second
only to Saudi Arabia itself.

Saddam’s saber rattling in the direction of Riyadh shortly after his annexation
of Kuwait made this seem a real possibility. Western nations and Japan, dependent
on the region’s oil, viewed this as a real economic threat that could not be left
unchecked. Saddam then refused to pay back his war debt of $26 billion to the
Saudis. Western fears became even more palpable as Saddam turned up the rhetoric
against the House of Saud, referring to the royal family as corrupt, illegitimate
guardians of the holy cities of Mecca and Medina. The condemnations from
Baghdad grew louder as western troops began to pour into the country. Operation
Desert Shield had begun.

In 1980, President Jimmy Carter stated what became known as the Carter
Doctrine with respect to the security of the oil reserves in the Persian Gulf: “An
attempt by any outside force to gain control of the Persian Gulf region will be
regarded as an assault on the vital interests of the United States of America, and
such assault will be repelled by any means necessary, including military force.”
President Ronald Reagan clarified this doctrine in 1981 to mean that the United
States would specifically use force to protect Saudi Arabia.

Following those policy benchmarks, President George H.W. Bush launched
what he termed a “wholly defensive” mission to prevent an Iraqi invasion of Saudi
Arabia. Operation Desert Shield began on August 7, 1990, and quickly transported
500,000 troops to the region by air and sealift. U.S. F-15s were dispatched im-
mediately to begin round-the-clock patrol of the eastern Saudi border. And two
full carrier groups surrounding the U.S.S. Eisenhower and U.S.S. Independence
steamed into the Gulf, including the recommissioned battleships U.S.S. Missouri
and U.S.S. Wisconsin.

President Bush used the next four months to build an international coalition
of thirty-four countries to contribute troops to the mission, secure financing of the
operation from Japan and the Saudi’s, persuade Israel to remain outside the conflict
in a neutral posture, and gain the requisite authorizations to use force against the
Iraqis in Kuwait from the U.S. Congress and the U.N. Security Council. After a
final offer of peaceful resolution was rejected by Saddam, Operation Desert Shield
became Operation Desert Storm. Iraqi forces were decisively defeated within three
weeks.
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The decision not to go to Baghdad and take out Saddam’s regime turned
out to be a fateful one for the long-suffering Kurds. President Bush and his ad-
ministration followed the letter of the U.N. Security Council authorization to use
force and ceased hostilities once Iraqi forces were removed from Kuwait and
its sovereignty was restored. The coalition could not, it was believed, politically
survive a direct strike at Saddam. Consequently, an effort was made to engi-
neer an internal coup against the regime in Baghdad as quickly as possible to
take advantage of the disarray in Saddam’s forces following their humiliating
defeat.

As U.S. forces departed Iraq for bases in Kuwait and Saudi Arabia, American
radio broadcasts and CIA operatives in Iraq began inciting the Shi’a and Kurds
in Iraq to rise up against their dictator. The Shi’a in the south were the first to
mount an insurrection against Saddam. The rebellion began in early March 1991
in the town of al-Zubair on the outskirts of Basra. Together with mutinous Army
conscripts, the Shi’a took control of the entire Tigris-Euphrates river valley from
al-Zubair north to Karbala. Reprisals were swiftly dealt against local Ba’athist
party and government officials.

Saddam’s elite Republican Guard, however, responded immediately to the
southern insurrection. Within two weeks, the rebellion was crushed. Over 6,000
Shi’a lay dead and another 10,000 to 20,000 wounded. Large swaths of Najaf,
Karbala, Kufa, and Hilla were demolished. Over 10,000 Shi’a fled, some behind
U.S. cease-fire lines, others into neighboring Iran.

In the north, Kurdish peshmerga led their own uprising while Saddam’s forces
were tied down in the south. They easily defeated the disorganized Iraqi regular
Army, took over main population centers such as Rania and held them for about
three weeks. By the end of March, Saddam’s forces had finished with the Shi’a
and had turned northward. Kurdish fighters abandoned the towns in the face of
Saddam’s superior firepower and his ruthless use of napalm and chemical weapons
that his Foreign Minister, Tariq Aziz, characterized as designed to merely frighten
the population. The Kurdish fighters retreated to the mountains in a futile attempt
to establish defensive positions.

The overwhelming majority of the Kurdish civilian population fled the towns
to avoid the advancing Iraqi troops—approximately 2.3 million people fled. One
million Kurdish refugees had already entered Iran by mid-April and another
450,000 were camped on the roads leading to the Iranian border checkpoints.
Another 500,000 had fled to Turkey and 350,000 more were fleeing into the
mountains along the border. With the memory of the Anfal campaigns and the
brutal gassing of Halabja fresh in their minds, the Kurds were convinced that
Saddam had arrived to finish the job.

Turkey and Iran categorically refused to absorb any more Kurds. Their own
restless Kurdish populations had been swollen with Iraqi Kurdish refugees to the
point of becoming unmanageable. Kurds stuck in camps along the borders began
quickly dying of exposure and disease. It was still winter in the mountains and
there were no supplies of food, water, or shelter going to the transient Kurds.
Augmented tragedy seemed all but assured.
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American forces failed to support both the Shi’a and Kurdish uprisings,
although they were instigated by the United States. The Kurds had been betrayed
by the West again, just as they were almost seventy years earlier when the West
allowed the collapse of the Treaty of Seévres promising them a homeland. Although
President Bush and Allied leaders had vowed not to become enmeshed in Iraq’s
internal struggles, the mass human suffering and the desperate refugee situation
demanded international attention. To the surprise of many, the solution was a
military one.

Operation Provide Comfort came in two phases. The first phase was the
stabilization of the border region between northern Iraq and Turkey. U.S. forces
moved to deliver humanitarian relief and to manage the border situation, as neither
Turkey nor Iran wanted more Kurds flowing into their countries and swelling the
ranks of their own restless Kurdish populations. From April to September 1991,
U.S. forces flew over 40,000 sorties, relocated over 700,000 refugees, and rebuilt
70-80 percent of the Kurdish villages previously destroyed by the Iraqis. The task
force airdropped 6,154 tons of supplies, flew in another 6,251 tons by helicopter,
and delivered a further 4,416 tons by truck. Eventually, the Kurds were persuaded
to move back to their homes under the protection of Allied aircraft, which began
Phase II of the Operation.

The second phase established a joint-command military operation on July 24,
1991, to defend Kurds from retribution by Saddam’s forces. A “No-Fly Zone” (see
Figure 4.1) was established by the United States, the United Kingdom, and France
north of the 36th parallel and was enforced by American, British, and French
aircraft. Any of Saddam’s aircraft, including helicopters that attempted to fly in
the restricted area were to be shot down. Included in this effort was the delivery of
humanitarian relief and military protection of the Kurds by a small Allied ground
force based in Turkey.

While Operation Desert Shield and Operation Desert Storm were orchestrated
by the U.S. Central Command in the United States, Operation Provide Comfort
was run by U.S. European Command, headquartered in Germany. Humanitarian
aid on the ground was provided by the U.S. Army’s 353rd Civil Affairs Command
and its subunits, the 432nd and 431st Civil Affairs battalions. These units were
located in Turkey and Northern Iraq and established base camps for Kurdish
refugees.

The operation ended on December 31, 1996, at the request of Turkey, which
wanted to pursue improved relations with Iraq. On January 1, 1997, Operation
Northern Watch picked up where Provide Comfort ended, and the United States
and Britain continued to enforce the northern No-Fly Zone on a daily basis despite
regular Iraqi antiaircraft fire. The No-Fly Zone ensured that Saddam’s forces could
not easily perpetrate further atrocities against the Kurds on the scale of the Anfal
campaigns. Without air support, Saddam’s only option was to deploy his entire
military to physically penetrate the rugged mountains of Iraqi Kurdistan on foot.
That would in turn have left him open to rebellion by the Shi’ites in the south with
his army trapped in the northern mountains.
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Figure 4.1. “No-Fly” Zones Patrolled over Iraq. Source: CIA, 1992.

Consequently, Operation Northern Watch restrained Saddam’s forces from
moving en masse against the Kurds. This allowed the Iraqi Kurds a period of auton-
omy unmatched by any in recent history and contributed to a renewed flourishing
of Kurdish tradition and culture. Iraqi Kurdistan developed its own internal gov-
erning structures, albeit beset by internal political rivalries, and largely took care
of its own educational and social services. The northern No-Fly Zone remained in
effect until the Second Persian Gulf War, ending officially on May 1, 2003.

A southern No-Fly Zone was similarly created to protect the Shi’ite population
south of Baghdad from Saddam’s air force. Operation Southern Watch provided
protection from August 27, 1992, until June 2002 when it transitioned to the more
aggressive Operation Southern Focus in preparation for the March 2003 invasion
of Iraq. Allied forces responded to Iraqi antiaircraft attacks by dropping over 600
bombs on almost 400 targets during the course of the operation.



Divided Loyalties (Internal Dissent within
Kurdish Factions)

Despite a common goal of independent statehood, the 22 million Kurds living in
Iraq, Iran, Syria, and Turkey are hardly unified. Several political factions exist that
are not necessarily coterminous with current international frontiers. The political
factions stem from groups of clans and tribes that banded together over time in the
face of adversity from foreign rulers. Because of this structure, there is inherent
rigidity among Kurdish political factions—very few people move between parties.
Since they are driven by family allegiance, the parties crystallized long ago.

The Kurdish Democratic Party (KDP) was founded in 1945 from the Komala
nationalist movement, a grouping of urban upper-class Kurds around Mahabad,
Iran. Led by Mustafa Barzani, the KDP briefly established a Kurdish Republic
in 1946 in northern Iran alongside the Azerbaijani Republic. The Western Allies
viewed these new republics as extensions of Soviet influence and supported the
Shah’s military campaign against them. When Soviet troops withdrew from Iran
in May, 1946, the Shah was free to renew Kurdish suppression.

Barzani fled to the USSR, where he remained in exile for eleven years. During
this time, other KDP branches formed in Turkey, Iraq, and Syria, eventually
absorbing elements of the original party. Most of the leaders were drawn from
the educated Kurdish cadres and exhibited strong communist sympathies. Barzani
came to head the Iraqi KDP in 1964 and consolidated his base of support there.
Over the next ten years, Barzani garnered power among aristocratic loyalists,
established the first peshmerga military forces, and engaged in brief struggles
with Baghdad alternating with deals for more or less power—depending on the
shifting political sands that year. Independence, however, remained elusive.

Frustrated at the lack of progress on nationalist issues, Jalal Talabani, one of
the disgruntled members of Barzani’s politburo, left with his supporters in 1975
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to form the Patriot Union of Kurdistan (PUK). The PUK’s initial purpose was to
resume the armed struggle against Baghdad for Kurdish independence. Military
success brought about three-fourths of Iraqi Kurdistan under the PUK influence.
But progress against Baghdad ground to a standstill in the run-up to the Iran—Iraq
War.

During the 1980s Iran and Iraq both sought to play the KDP and PUK against
one another with some success. Saddam was effective in creating jahsh militias—
small armed Kurdish groups loyal to Baghdad, that could be deployed in Kurdistan
to undermine defenses, collect intelligence, cajole conscripts to fight in the south
against Iran, and prepare the way for Iraqi military incursions. However, by July
1987, Tehran had convinced the PUK and KDP leadership to form a united front
against Saddam in exchange for Iranian support.

Saddam responded shortly thereafter with his Anfal offensive to wipe out
Kurdish resistance, consolidate Baghdad’s control over the Iraqi Kurdistan, and
Arabize certain strategic regions of the north. Chapter 2 details the Anfals and the
destruction that reigned down on the Kurds during 1988.

Upon Saddam’s defeat in the Persian Gulf War, both the PUK and the KDP
moved to retake control of Iraqi Kurdistan, inviting jahsh militiamen back into
the Kurdish ranks under a general amnesty. In the wake of Saddam’s renewed
suppression following the 1991 uprisings, the Kurds withdrew north of the 36th
parallel, where the U.S. and British air contingents had established a no-fly zone
to protect the Kurds from Saddam’s planes.

From 1994-1998, the KDP, under the leadership of Massoud Barzani, and
the PUK fought a bloody war for power over northern Iraq. The KDP controlled
the northern portion of Iraqi Kurdistan, with its political base in Irbil, while the
PUK controlled the southern portion, based out of Sulaymaniyah. However, after
a U.S.-brokered deal in September 1998 that brought both parties together, the
factions began focusing on developing their respective portions of the Kurdish
economy and opening cross-border links with their Kurdish cousins in Iran and
Turkey.

After the 2003 invasion and occupation of Iraq, Kurds were able to shift their
regional government into a strong bargaining position relative to the defeated Sunni
Arab and newly liberated Shi’a Arab elements. Although the political logistics
proved challenging, the ultimate bargain put both PUK and KDP members into a
Kurdish regional assembly under an Alliance List (a form of unity government),
appointed the KDP’s leader Massoud Barzani as head of the regional government,
and sent the PUK’s leader Jalal Talabani to Baghdad as president of the national
government.

No significant opposition parties have formed to challenge the status quo
between the PUK and the KDP. A small group known as Kurdish Islamic Union
(KIU), led by Salahuddin Muhammad Bahauddin, was formed as Kurds were
wrestling with the establishment of the Kurdish regional government. But that
party’s headquarters was torched in December 2005, and the KIU accused regional
KDP officials of orchestrating the attacks; KDP denied any involvement.
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The story of Kurdish political infighting in Iran is similar to that in Iraq. The
KDP’s struggles in Iraq during the 1960s and 1970s were the focus of Barzani’s
efforts. In a deal with Tehran for support to destabilize northern Iraq, Barzani
commanded the remnants of the Iranian KDP (KDPI) to cease their struggle within
Iran so that the Iraq front could be developed. Most followed these orders, but a
splinter group broke off and formed the KDP in Iran Revolutionary Committee
(KDPI/RC). This group was crushed by the Shah’s forces in collusion with Barzani.

Subsequently a new group was formed, the Revolutionary Order of Toilers
(Komala), which organized the peasantry and women. Since the 1980s, Komala
has offered itself as an alternative to the elitist KDPI and continuous battles have
been fought since then. Although both groups work for more autonomy within
Iran, these efforts fall short of a call for complete independence.

In Turkey, the Kurdish nationalist movement has a distinctly militaristic bent.
The Kurds have waged a guerrilla insurgency in southeastern Turkey since the
1920s. By 1939, the Turkish government had forced down a series of revolts and
thousands of “problem Kurds” were shipped to western Turkey. Things were quiet
until the 1960s when Kurds in Turkey, emboldened by the Kurdish uprisings in
Iran and Iraq, took up arms once again. Cycles of repression followed as unstable
governments rose and fell during a period of coups in Ankara for the following
two decades.

In 1980, the Kurdish Workers Party (PKK) was formed by Abdullah Ocalan,
a young radical, who began to stir up nationalist sentiment. By the mid-1980s the
PKK carried out military attacks with support from the government in Syria—a
government which sought to keep Turkey destabilized. There are no other Kurdish
factions within Turkey to challenge the authority of the PKK; thus, their situation
is unlike the divided Kurdish political base in Iran and Iragq.

Ocalan led the PKK’s insurgent operations until his capture in 1999. He was
ejected from his base in Syria the year before under intense pressure and the threat
of invasion by Turkey. He fled to Russia, which refused to harbor him, then to
Greece, which had supported his movement within Turkey, but was not allowed
to stay. From there he flew to Italy and was held by Italian authorities after Turkey
formally requested his extradition. However, Italian law forbade extradition of
individuals to countries like Turkey that had the death penalty. Consequently,
since Ocalan could not be extradited to Turkey under Italian law, he was released
and then disappeared. The Turks were infuriated and protested vehemently.

Eventually, Ocalan ended up in Africa, hidden by the Greek government in
its Kenyan embassy. This was not the best hiding place as U.S. intelligence agents
were everywhere in Nairobi, investigating the al-Qaeda bombing of their embassy.
U.S. agents tipped off Mossad (Israeli intelligence) of Ocalan’s whereabouts and
this was relayed to Turkey, Israel’s military ally in the Middle East. Turkish agents
then picked up Ocalan as he was being transported from the Greek embassy to the
Nairobi airport on February 15, 1999.

Ocalan is currently incarcerated as the only inmate in a Turkish prison on the
island of Imrali in the Sea of Mamara. The PKK quieted its military struggle during
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the ensuring years under pleas from Ocalan—induced by the Turkish government.
Although Ocalan received the death penalty for his part in the insurgency, he most
likely will not be executed due to a moratorium on capital punishment issued by
the Turkish government, which is a candidate for membership in the European
Union, where execution is banned.

Over the years, tensions have flared between the PKK and Barzani’s KDP
faction, which controls the Turkey—Iraq border. Barzani has criticized the PKK for
establishing military bases inside Iraqi-Kurd territory to launch attacks into Turkey.
On a policy basis, the PKK rejected the KDP/PUK decision to seek regional self-
government within a federal Iraq. The PKK believes any independent Kurdish
state should be a homeland for all Kurds.

Unity in purpose but disunity in methodology, has stymied Kurdish efforts to
build a homeland since the post—World War I settlement of the 1920s dividing
them as minorities in disparate states. Whether a consolidated effort within Iraq
can achieve a gravitational center for Kurdish aspirations remains to be seen.
Neither Turkey and Syria nor Iran wishes to see an independent Kurdish state
emerge from the chaos in Iraq. Consequently, those states will likely seek to keep
the Kurdish political factions as disunited as possible for the foreseeable future.



The 2003 Iraq War

Saddam, once a friend and ally of the United States, forfeited that position when
he invaded Kuwait in 1990, justifying his invasion as a forcible reincorporation of
a renegade province. This strategic miscalculation cost him dearly. Saudi Arabia,
the Arab states of the Gulf, and the United States viewed Kuwait’s occupation as
a threat to the world’s oil supply and surmised that his aggression would not stop
with Kuwait. Thus, a coalition was formed and was duly authorized by the U.N.
Security Council to invade Kuwait and repel the Iraqi army.

Although the coalition forces successfully repelled the Iraqis in January 1991,
they stopped short of invading and occupying Iraq completely, which would have
gone beyond the coalition’s U.N. Security Council mandate of restoring Kuwaiti
sovereignty. Subsequently, the United States and Britain jointly established “no-fly
zones” in the north and south of Iraq that were patrolled over the ensuing decade
by jet fighters and reconnaissance planes. These zones were created ostensibly
to protect the Kurds in the north and the Shi’a in the south, and were patrolled
throughout the remainder of the first Bush presidency, the Clinton presidency, and
the pre-Iraq War second Bush presidency.!

America and the world were largely satisfied with this policy of containment
coupled with economic sanctions imposed upon Saddam’s regime to keep him
weak and to defuse his ability to threaten his neighbors. After the terrorist attacks
suffered by the United States on September 11, 2001, at the hands of Islamist
Arab Osama bin Laden and his fundamentalist al Qaeda network, the United
States shifted its policy position with regard to terrorism from one of deterrence
to one of preemption and active prevention.” President Bush promised to hunt
down terrorists wherever they were hiding and bring down the regimes of states that
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harbored them. This policy was extended to include states pursuing the develop-
ment of weapons of mass destruction (WMD).3

Based on what turned out to be faulty intelligence, President Bush was con-
vinced that Saddam had retooled his ability to pursue WMD and was close to
perfecting a nuclear weapon. Logically, mere containment could no be an option.
With the backing of U.S. Congress, the President sought out the United Nations to
secure new resolutions to resume weapons inspections in Iraq to find and destroy
that capability. Security Council Resolution 1441 required Saddam to produce
12,000 pages of documents disclosing his WMD programs. The resulting docu-
ment production was rejected by both the United States and chief U.N. weapons
inspector Hans Blix as incomplete.*

Secretary of State Colin Powell personally appeared before the Security Coun-
cil and made an elaborate case for invasion based upon Saddam’s refusal to comply
with prior resolutions. The accusations leveled at Iraq included the continued pro-
duction and possession of biological weapons, chemical weapons, and the pursuit
of nuclear weapons coupled with new longer-range missile technology. Following
(see Figures 6.1-6.5) are a few of the slides shown to the Security Council during
Secretary Powell’s presentation.

Despite the presentation made by the United States and backed by Great
Britain, which urged the Security Council to authorize military action for the non-
compliance, the rest of the Security Council members remained skeptical. France,
Germany, and Russia blocked military action until the inspectors could complete
their work. Fearful that such delay would allow Saddam another year to develop
weapons, Britain and the United States formed a new coalition of forty nations,
albeit much smaller ones than those, which participated in the U.N.-sanctioned
Persian Gulf War, to invade Iraq and forcibly remove Saddam from power.

Since a military campaign season in the desert cannot endure the full summer
heat, the coalition lost no time in pulling together its ground troops as a significant
aerial bombardment of Baghdad and Iraqi military installations was initiated.
Approximately 300,000 troops were massed, 98 percent of which were American
and British. When the ground war began, Iraqi forces were quickly overwhelmed,
and Baghdad fell on April 9, 2003. Kurdish peshmerga troops joined the fighting
on the side of the coalition, attacking from the north. By April 15th major combat
operations were over and the occupation of Irag was underway.

The Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA) was established by the United
States and its allies to govern Iraq during the occupation, and the military was
redeployed throughout the country to hunt down the suspected WMD and capture
Saddam and other Ba’athist leaders who had all fled Baghdad during the fighting.
In December 2003, Saddam was captured hiding in an underground “spider hole”
outside of Tikrit. Taken into custody and held by coalition forces, he was accorded
prisoner of war status as a military leader.>

The CPA functioned as the governing authority of Iraq until June 2004 when
the Iraqi Interim Government was appointed by the CPA. The Interim Government
was in turn replaced by the Iraqi Transitional Government, elected on January 31,
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Figure 6.1. Iraq’s Biological Agent Program/Slide 20. Source: U.S. Department of State,
February 2003.

Figure 6.2. Iraq’s Biological Agent Program/Slide 21. Source: U.S. Department of State,

February 2003.
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Figure 6.3. Chemical Weapons in Iraq/Slide 25. Source: U.S. Department of State, Feb.
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Figure 6.4. Iraq’s Missile Ranges/Slide 34. Source: U.S. Department of State, Feb. 2003.
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Figure 6.5. Equipment Used for Enrichment/Slide 31. Source: U.S. Department of State,
Feb. 2003.

2005, and charged with drafting a permanent Iraqi constitution. The permanent
Iraqi government under the new constitution took office in May 2006.

The CPA drafted the statute of the Iraqi Special Tribunal (IST), which was
designed to try Saddam and his henchmen for major atrocities committed during
their reign. The IST was then approved by successive governments, including the
elected government, which renamed it the Iraqi High Tribunal (IHT). The original
CPA drafters did not take into account when naming the tribunal that the term
“special” was a sobriquet attached to courts under Saddam’s regime known for
their particular brutality.

Shortly after the cessation of formal warfare in April 2003, mass looting oc-
curred, especially in Baghdad. Insufficient coalition forces had been deployed to
secure Iraq after the quick defeat of its armed forces. But it was not simply commer-
cial enterprises, markets, museums, and antiquities that were looted. According
to the U.S. Department of Defense, approximately 250,000 tons of ordnance was
looted during this period—about one-third of total ordnance available. This would
become the initial source of weaponry for the insurgency that would follow.

From 2004 to 2008, the insurgency undertaken to resist the coalition occu-
pation grew from a small Sunni-led resistance to a sprawling hit-and-run terrorist
campaign. Without enough troops to secure the borders, foreign terrorist elements
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infiltrated Iraq, building an al Qaeda network within the Sunni community while
Iranian agents boosted the Shi’ite community. Eventually these forces collided,
turning from a combined resistance effort into a sectarian Sunni—Shi’a civil war
with coalition forces caught in the middle. Kurdish forces largely remained in the
north.

The intensity of the fighting, mounting casualties, and general fatigue depleted
the coalition, which was shrinking each month with more nations calling their
troops home. The United States eventually shouldered the burden and effectuated
a temporary surge of 20,000 additional troops in the summer of 2007 together with
more financial resources to tamp down on the violence and buy off both sides. By
co-opting the Sunni sheiks in Anbar province to turn on al Qaeda agents and the
Shi’a mullahs in Baghdad and the south to reign in their militias in exchange for
political participation, violence began to drop in early 2008.



This page intentionally left blank



Part Three

Saddam on Trial
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Creation of the Iraqi High Tribunal

Even before Saddam’s capture, the Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA) and its
adjunct Iraqi Governing Council were faced with the question of trial venues for
captured war criminals. As the following table (see Table 7.1) indicates, the trial
options were many and varied, but one in particular presented itself as a method for
retaining the most control over events while simultaneously conferring maximum
legitimacy on the proceedings from the perspective of Iraqis—establishment of a
domestic special criminal tribunal.

A truth commission was never a realistic option, from either the domestic
American or Iraqi political perspective. Retribution ranks high on the list of
criminal justice goals in both cultures and justice systems. Accordingly, taking the
truth commission option would be viewed in both societies as “letting Saddam off
the hook.” Likewise, an international tribunal presented a false option primarily
due to the fact that one would have to be created from scratch; moreover, the Bush
administration amply demonstrated its disdain for working with international
bodies.

While the Pentagon was convening military tribunals to try captured al Qaeda
and Taliban in the U.S.-led war on terror, no Iraqis unaffiliated with those groups
were specifically being singled out for trial by military commission. Saddam
would be no exception. Such tribunals are regarded as necessarily operating in a
vacuum—which Iraq, unlike Afghanistan, is not—and part of the stated goal for
liberating Iraq was to re-imbue it with democratic rule-of-law institutions. Thus,
taking war crimes trials away from the Iraqis would be seen as denying them the
opportunity to let justice take its course within Iraq. The same justification would
apply for not trying Saddam in American federal courts.
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Table 7.1 Options for the Trial of Saddam Hussein

Venue Option Rationale/Accompanying Issues

Truth Commission This option calls for no trial at all. South Africa successfully
employed a truth and reconciliation commission that exchanged
amnesty for criminal conduct for testimony and
acknowledgment of acts committed in furtherance of Apartheid.

International Tribunal ~ The U.N. Security Council would have to create an ad hoc
International Iraqi War Crimes Tribunal. Currently, there is no
international court that could hear Saddam’s case. The
International Court of Justice only has definitive jurisdiction
over states; the new International Criminal Court only has
prospective jurisdiction over crimes committed after July 2002;
and the existing tribunals for Yugoslavia, Rwanda, and Sierra
Leone only have jurisdiction over the criminal events that
unfolded in those particular conflicts. Possible Models:
Yugoslav Model: Purely international (location away from
country of crime and international judges and prosecutors only).
Sierra Leone Model: Both international and domestic (location
in country of crime and both international and domestic judges
and prosecutors).

Military Tribunal Under international law, the United States had the option to try
Saddam before an American military tribunal. However, his
status as a POW would bring all the protections of the Third
Geneva Convention into play.

U.S. Federal Court Just as Article III federal courts successfully tried Manuel
Noriega after the American invasion of Panama, U.S. federal
courts could conceivably try Saddam since genocide is
criminalized by federal statute and the crime is accorded
universal jurisdiction.

Special Iraqi The Iraqi Special Tribunal (IST) was created by the Iraqi

Domestic Court Governing Council to try war criminals such as Saddam. The
IST would have jurisdiction over Saddam and his henchmen for
genocide, war crimes, and crimes against humanity.

Yet another, perhaps more powerful reason for not trying Saddam in a military
tribunal or a U.S. federal court is the perspective of the Arab street. From their
vantage point rooted in the Arabic-Islamic honor code, Osama bin Laden could
legitimately be tried in the United States because he struck the United States first.
Saddam is another matter, however, because he was toppled from power after a
full-scale invasion and occupation. From the Arab perspective, therefore, Saddam
should be subjected to Arabic justice.

For these reasons, the domestically constituted IST was viewed as the most
realistic venue option for trying Saddam. Promulgated just a few days before his
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capture and designed for trying the Ba’athist henchmen already arrested, the IST
was to consist of Iragi judges and prosecutors dispensing Iraqi justice against Iraqi
defendants. Although the statute establishing the IST carefully contained all the
accoutrements that allowed it to be described as domestic justice, international
“guidance” was encouraged and, in some cases, required.

When the CPA drafted the statute of the IST, it specifically sought to avoid
many of the problems associated with the Milosevic trial in The Hague. A major
difference is that the IST was to be a domestic Iraqi court that existed within
the Iraqi judicial system under the authority of the Iraqi government. Article 1
of the statute limits the IST’s temporal jurisdiction to crimes committed in Iraq
or elsewhere between the Ba’athists’ assumption of power on July 17, 1968, and
their deposition on May 1, 2003. It specifically incorporates liability for crimes
committed during the wars with Iran and Kuwait and for crimes committed against
Iraqi ethnic or religious groups, whether during armed conflict or not. The IST also
was given adjudicatory power only over people, not parties or corporate entities.'

The IST’s subject matter jurisdiction was limited as well. It could undertake
prosecutions only for genocide, war crimes, crimes against humanity as defined
largely by international law, and a small set of domestic Iraqi violations, including
invading other Arab countries, wasting natural resources, abusing power, squan-
dering public funds and assets, and attempting to manipulate the judiciary. Judges
were appointed by the Iraqi government to trial chambers and a nine-member
appellate body, which may include non-Iraqi nationals at the government’s dis-
cretion. Provision was also made for the creation of a twenty-member body of
permanent “investigative judges,” who would issue subpoenas, arrest warrants,
and indictments, as well as collect and evaluate evidence. The role of investigative
judge parallels that which is used in inquisitorial criminal justice systems common
in civil law countries: work as a disinterested third party to build the case for trial
in court.

Each investigative judge was considered a separate organ and independent
from the tribunal judges. Interestingly, the chief investigative judge was required
to appoint non-Iraqi foreign “advisors” to act in an assistant or observer capacity
while also monitoring the work of the Iraqi investigative judges to ensure that
general due process standards were observed. Similarly, up to twenty prosecutors
would be appointed by the government and accompanied by international advisors.

Borrowing from the statutes establishing the International Criminal Tribunal
for the Former Yugoslavia (ICTY) and the International Criminal Tribunal for
Rwanda (ICTR), the statute of the IST also did away with the defenses of sovereign
immunity and superior orders while building in a command responsibility basis
for criminal liability. The IST was also determined to learn from the mistakes of
the Milosevic trial in order to maintain a formal and fair decorum with the defen-
dant, impose counsel when necessary, and limit the prosecution’s introduction of
evidence so as not to unduly prolong the trial.

Following his appointment as the head administrator of the IST in early 2004,
Salem Chalabi led a delegation of Iraqi judges and prosecutors to The Hague in
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April 2004 to meet with jurists from the ICTY and the new International Criminal
Court. Hoping to draw on their experiences, Chalabi said, “We do not want this
tribunal to be the . . . ultimate historian of the atrocities of the previous regime. We
want it to be about justice. And so we need to make sure the cases are properly
prepared, that they’re scrutinized appropriately, and the trials are fair. And this
will take some time.”?

During the spring of 2004, U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) personnel began
providing support to the new IST in the form of logistics and evidence collection.
To this end, a DOJ Regime Crimes Liaison Office was established in Baghdad and
given a budget of $75 million. The pivotal challenge faced by the staff attempting
to marshal incriminating evidence was the deteriorating local security situation.
For example, to exhume a mass grave—a process that takes two months—earth-
moving equipment must be transported to the site, the local population must be
kept at bay, and a significant military contingent must be present around the clock,
diverted away from other patrols and duties.’

Gregory Kehoe, a U.S. government attorney and formerly a prosecutor with
the Yugoslav war crimes tribunal in The Hague, was put in charge of the DOJ
extension office. Kehoe noted:

We are purely, again, in a support role as a liaison. What the problem in Iraq with the
Saddam regime is that an infrastructure wasn’t present to assist in these investigations.
What we are attempting to do is gather information from various quarters, not only in
the United States, but throughout the world, and provide the Iraqis with that informa-
tion. And they then will develop that information through their investigative judges to
decide what charges should be brought and against whom.*

Political instability within Iraq took its toll early on the IST. Salem Chalabi
was deposed as head of the tribunal in September 2004 when murder charges
were brought against him (the charges were later dropped), and replaced by Amer
Bakri. Chalabi contended 